IDENTIFICATION OF MAIZE LEAF DISEASES USING SUPPORT VECTOR MACHINE AND CONVOLUTIONAL NEURAL NETWORKS ALEXNET AND RESNET50

Micheni Maurice Murimi

A Research Thesis Submitted to the School of Pure and Applied Sciences in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Conferment of the Degree of Masters of Science in Information Technology, Karatina University

DECLARATION

Declaration by the Candidate

This thesis is my original work and has not been presented for a Conferment of a degree

in any other University or for any other award

Micheni Maurice Murimi

P306/2208P/15

Signature Date.....

Declaration by the Supervisors

We confirm that the work reported in this thesis report was carried out by the candidate

under our supervision and has been submitted with our approval as University

supervisors.

Dr Margaret Kinyua Department of Mathematics, Statistics and Actuarial Science, School of pure and Applied Sciences, Karatina University

Signature	.Date
Dr. Rael Birithia Agricultural Sciences Department, School of Agriculture and Biotechnology, Karatina University	
Signature	Date
Dr. Boaz Too Department of Mathematics, Computing and Information Technology, University of Embu	
Signature	Date

DEDICATION

I dedicate this dissertation work to my family. Special appreciation goes to my loving wife and children, whose encouragement and push for tenacity ring in my ears. My parents, Prof. Isaac Micheni and Prof. Elyjoy Micheni are exceptional and never left my side. My siblings, C. Micheni and his family and B. Micheni for always encouraging me.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I want to express my gratitude to the Karatina University team, who generously shared their expertise and valuable time. Thanks to my dedicated supervisors; Dr. Rael Birithia, Dr. Margaret Kinyua, and Dr. Boaz Too for their unwavering support throughout this journey. Their guidance, encouragement, and patience were instrumental in completing this research.

I am deeply grateful to the Kenya Agricultural and Livestock Research Organisation (KARLO) Kabete and the Embu officers for permitting me to conduct my research and providing valuable assistance whenever needed. A special appreciation goes to Mr. Cyrus Mugambi, a plant pathologist at KALRO Kabete, for his invaluable support in disease identification and classification.

I sincerely thank the School of Computing, University of Embu, for providing the computing systems used for data analysis and model training. Their expertise and resources were instrumental in conducting the computational aspects of this research. To all those who supported and believed in me throughout this research, I deeply appreciate your contributions and acknowledge the invaluable role each of you played in completing this thesis. Thank you all for your encouragement and guidance, which has been instrumental in shaping the outcome of this work.

DECLARATION	ii
DEDICATION	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	iv
TABLE OF CONTENTS	v
LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	. viii
ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS	ix
ABSTRACT	xi
CHAPTER ONE	1
INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background of the Study	1
1.2 Statement of the Problem	6
1.3 Objectives of the Study	8
1.3.1 General Objective	8
1.3.2. Specific Objectives	8
1.4 Research Questions	8
1.5 Justification of the Study	9
1.6 Scope of the study	12
1.7 Limitations of the Study	12
CHAPTER TWO	16
LITERATURE REVIEW	16
2.1 Introduction	16
2.2 Maize Production in Kenya	16
2.3 Plant Diseases as a Threat to Maize Production	17
2.3.1 Maize Lethal Necrosis (MLN) Disease	17
2.3.2 Maize Streak Disease (MSD)	20
2.3.3 Grey Leaf Spot Disease	22
2.4 Traditional Approaches for Identification Maize Leaf Disease	23
2.5 Computer Based Vision Digital Images in Crop Diseases Identification	24
2.6 Machine Learning Techniques in Plant Diseases Detection and Classification	25
2.6.1 Support Vector Machine – a Machine Learning Model	27
2.7 Deep Learning Techniques in Plant Diseases Identification	29

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.7.1 AlexNet CNN Architectures	. 30
2.7.2 ResNet50 CNN Architectures	. 32
2.8 Conceptual framework of the CNN Architectures: AlexNet and ResNet50	. 34
CHAPTER THREE	. 37
MATERIALS AND METHODS	. 37
3.1 Introduction	. 37
3.2 Data Sets	. 37
3.3 Pre-processing Phase	. 39
3.4 Training Phase	. 39
3.5 Evaluation of Performance of AlexNet, ResNet50 and SVM in Maize Leaf Diseases Classification	40
CHAPTER FOUR	43
RESULTS FINDINGS AND INTERPRETATIONS	43
4.1 Introduction	43
4.2 Identification of Maize Leaf Diseases Using AlexNet, ResNet50 and SVM Architectures	43
4.3 Performance of AlexNet, ResNet50 and SVM in Classification of Maize Leaf Diseases	45
4.4 Model Accuracy and Loss Curves for CNN (Alexnet and Resnet50) Architectur	es
	. 47
CHAPTER FIVE	. 49
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	. 49
5.1 Introduction	. 49
5.2 Summary of Findings	. 49
5.3 Conclusion	. 50
5.4 Recommendations	. 51
REFERENCES	53

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1: Distribution of data sources and division of images used in training validation and testing per disease	on 37
Table 4.1: Percentage accuracy in detection of maize leaf diseases by AlexNet, ResNet: and SVM models	50 43
Table 4.2: Confusion matrix and performance of AlexNet, ResNet50 and SVM inrecognition of MLN Disease	44
Table 4.3: Confusion matrix and performance of AlexNet, ResNet50 and SVM in recognition of MSD	45
Table 4.4: Confusion matrix and performance of AlexNet, ResNet50 and SVM in recognition of GLS disease	45

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 Distribution and losses affiliated by MLN in Kenya	18
Figure 2.2. Disease symptoms of MLN	20
Figure 2.3: Conceptual framework of the proposed model using AlexNet/ ResNet50	35
Figure 3.1: A sample of maize leaf images representing crop disease used	38
Figure 4.1. Average accuracy in identification of the three maize leaf diseases by AlexNet, ResNet50 and SVM	44
Figure 4.2: Model accuracy and model loss and accuracy curves for AlexNet	46
Figure 4.3: Model accuracy and model loss and accuracy curves for ResNet50	47

ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

ANN	Artificial Neural Network
CLN	Corn Lethal Necrosis
CMOS	Complemetary Metal Oxide Semi-conductor
CNN	Convolution Neural Network
DBM	Deep Boltzmann's Machine
DBN	Deep Belief Network
DT	Decision Tree
ELISA	Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent Assays
FAO STAT	Food and Agricultural Organization Statistics
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GLS	Grey Leaf Spot
GPU	Graphics Processing Unit
ICT	Information and Communication Technology
K-NN	K- Nearest Neighbours
LRN	Local Response Normalization
MATLAB	Matrix Laboratory
MDMV	Maize Dwarf Mosaic Virus
MLN	Maize lethal necrosis Disease

MSV	Maize Streak Virus
NLB	Northern Leaf Blight
RF	Random Forest
Relu	Rectified linear unit
ResNet-50	Residual Network-50
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
SCMV	Sugarcane Mosaic Virus
SVM	Support Vector Machine
VGG-16	Visual Geometry Group-16
WSMV	Wheat Streak Mosaic Virus

ABSTRACT

Protecting maize crops from devastating plant diseases ensures global food security. Accurate disease identification is essential for implementing effective control measures. However, traditional visual analysis of symptomatic leaves used by maize farmers in Kenya is time-consuming, costly, subjective and prone to errors. Embracing computer vision technologies, such as deep learning and machine learning, offers promising solutions to these challenges, enhancing crop productivity. The general objective of this study was to develop models for maize lethal necrosis (MLN) disease, maize streak disease (MSD) and Gray leaf spot diseases (GLS) detection and classification using AlexNet and ResNet 50 convolutional neural networks (CNN) architectures and machine learning Support Vector Machine (SVM). The specific objectives of this study were to: identify maize leaf disease (MLN, MSD and GLS) using AlexNet, ResNet-0 and SVM models, to evaluate the performance of the AlexNet, ResNet-50 and SVM models in the classification of MLN, MSD and GLS. Digital maize leaf disease images were collected from maize farms in Embu County, resulting in a dataset of 3200 images, with 800 images for each disease category. The results indicate that AlexNet and ResNet50 achieved high accuracy in identifying maize leaf diseases, recording average accuracies of 98.3% and 96.6%, respectively. In contrast, the SVM model exhibited the lowest average accuracy of 85.5%. AlexNet demonstrated exceptional accuracy in classifying Maize Streak Virus (MSV) with a rate of 99.85%, followed by ResNet50 at 99.2%. Conversely, SVM had a lower recall value of 81.7% for Grey Leaf Spot disease. By incorporating these advanced models, farmers and stakeholders in maize crop protection can identify diseases early, allowing for timely interventions and improved disease management strategies. Consequently, this will lead to increased maize productivity and enhanced crop quality. Early disease detection also facilitates the judicious use of pesticides, safeguarding the environment and human health. The findings underscore the importance of leveraging these technologies to enhance food security, optimize agricultural practices. and promote sustainable maize production.

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background of the Study

Maize (*Zea mays*) is a globally cultivated crop with an annual production of approximately 1137 million metric tons (Erenstein *et al.*, 2022). In Kenya, maize is significant in food security, serving as a vital source of income and employment for small-scale and large-scale farmers. However, despite an increase in the area of maize production in Kenya over the past decade, the total output remains low at 11.7t ha⁻¹ compared to its potential of 40 t ha⁻¹ (FAOSTAT, 2021). The significance of maize cultivation transcends mere agricultural pursuits; it constitutes a pillar supporting food security, income generation, and employment opportunities for small-scale and large-scale farming communities across Africa, with Kenya as a notable example (Nosipho & Mpandeli, 2021).

Maize leaf diseases, attributed to viral and fungal agents, represent formidable challenges to maize production (Kitonde *et al.*, 2019). Maize lethal necrosis (MLN) disease and maize streak disease emerge as destructive viral pathogens among these disorders (Bernardo *et al.*, 2021). MLN occurs rapidly and has a devastating impact, causing the yellowing and wilting of leaves, leading to necrosis (Batchelor *et al.*, 2020). Conversely, Maize streak disease results in leaf characteristic streaking and discolouration, significantly impairing photosynthesis and yield (Drechsler *et al.*, 2014).

Furthermore, Grey leaf spot (GLS) disease, triggered by *Cercospora* fungal species (Kibe *et al.*, 2020), contributes to the compounding menace. GLS manifests as small, rectangular lesions with grey centres encircled by a dark border, compromising the plant's

photosynthetic efficiency and weakening its overall vigour (Paul, 2003). This disease often attains its peak severity during high humidity and frequent rainfall (Vines *et al.*, 2020, Paul, 2003).

These disease entities collectively impose substantial yield losses, impacting Kenya's maize production. Reports from Batchelor *et al.*, (2020) and Charles *et al.*, (2019) corroborate that these diseases are responsible for yield reductions ranging from 40% to 100% across the country. These yield losses can lead to dire consequences for both small-scale and large-scale farmers, undermining food security, livelihoods, and economic stability. Effective disease management strategies, therefore, become indispensable to mitigate these losses and bolster maize production in Kenya.

Identifying maize diseases entails various approaches, but the most straightforward and widely adopted method is visualising symptomatic leaves (Natesan *et al.*, 2022). Early crop disease detection is paramount as it empowers farmers to swiftly initiate requisite control measures, including carefully selecting appropriate pesticides. This proactive approach increases crop yield and enhances overall produce quality (Dubois *et al.*, 2021; Rocha *et al.*, 2020).

Farmers commonly scrutinise disease symptoms evident on leaves to recognise and categorise crop diseases (Matinuu Sigit *et al.*, 2022). However, this technique does present inherent limitations. Its subjectivity introduces room for errors, and its time-intensive nature adds to operational complexities. Particularly for resource-constrained rural farmers, its associated costs, which may involve consulting a trained plant pathologist to confirm disease presence, can be a substantial burden (Waheed *et al.*, 2020). This challenge becomes more pronounced in scenarios of multiple infections,

where accurate diagnosis becomes increasingly intricate. The financial implications increase further as the costs associated with engaging trained professionals for disease confirmation add to the already strained resources of farmers. These drawbacks undermine disease identification accuracy. However, the accuracy of disease diagnosis cannot be overstated, as it constitutes the foundation for effective control measures. Selecting the appropriate pesticides, instituting timely interventions, and applying disease containment strategies all hinge on precise disease identification, as explained by Rocha *et al.*, (2020).

Furthermore, the potential for misdiagnosis carries far-reaching repercussions. Erroneous disease identification can result in the inappropriate use of pesticides, not only squandering resources but also potentially endangering environmental contamination through improper disposal. Such contamination can adversely affect humans and non-target organisms, amplifying the ecological toll of disease mismanagement (Gunstone *et al.*, 2021). While the visual analysis of symptomatic leaves serves as a fundamental tool for disease identification, its limitations underscore the need for more advanced and accurate methods in contemporary agricultural practices (Natesan *et al.*, 2022).

Consequently, an apparent necessity arises to enhance the precision, effectiveness, and accessibility of maize leaf disease identification within Kenya. Among the most promising avenues for surmounting the challenges outlined above, computer vision-based automatic systems offer an approach with substantial potential to mitigate losses and augment productivity (Owino, 2023). Recent years have witnessed the dominance of machine learning and deep learning techniques, carving a niche in identifying plant diseases through digital images (Kumar *et al.*, 2022).

In contrast to traditional methods, these modern techniques offer a paradigm shift. While traditional machine-learning approaches necessitate the extraction of features from afflicted plant images such as leaf colour, texture, and shape for training classifiers, contemporary methodologies embrace the inherent richness of image data (Bashir *et al.*, 2019). Machine learning models leverage this data directly, automatically extracting intricate and often imperceptible patterns and features. This, in turn, enables the development of robust and precise models that can discern even subtle indications of disease presence (Bashir *et al.*, 2019).

Furthermore, deep learning techniques, a subset of machine learning, have demonstrated particular prowess in handling image-centric datasets. Their capacity to learn hierarchical representations of data, moving from low-level features like edges to higher-level concepts such as shapes and objects, bolsters their performance in distinguishing between healthy and diseased plants (Purwono *et al.*, 2023). This affords these techniques a distinct advantage over traditional methods, as they can identify even incipient stages of disease development, circumventing the limitations of human-perceptible symptom recognition (Hernández *et al.*, 2021).

In recent applications, these approaches have showcased considerable success in addressing the challenges posed by plant diseases. They enable rapid and accurate disease identification, paving the way for timely interventions (Liu, 2023). Moreover, their adaptability and scalability make them well-suited for various agricultural contexts, from small-scale to large-scale farming operations. Through their automated and data-driven nature, these methods hold great promise in elevating agricultural productivity and fostering sustainable practices by facilitating precise pesticide application, reducing

environmental impact, and ensuring optimal resource utilization (Omkar, 2023). These approaches have been widely employed in identifying diseases like leaf blotch, powdery mildew and rust (Genaev *et al.*, 2021).

Machine learning techniques such as Support Vector Machine (SVM), Decision Tree (DT), K-Nearest Neighbors (K-NN), and Random Forests (RF), have been commonly adopted for crop disease classification due to their established efficacy (Jasrotia *et al.*, 2023). Nevertheless, these techniques encounter inherent limitations when detecting disease in its early stages. Factors like lighting conditions and occlusion can substantially compromise their ability to accurately recognize diseases, thereby undermining their utility in early diagnosis (Yu *et al.*, 2023; Khan *et al.*, 2021).

This is where deep learning methods emerge as a transformative alternative. Their inherent architecture, particularly Convolutional Neural Networks (CNNs), capitalizes on the innate structure of image data, enabling them to automatically identify intricate patterns and features that may elude traditional machine learning techniques. This capability significantly enhances the efficiency of disease recognition (Khan *et al.*, 2021). Furthermore, the adaptability of deep learning models to complex and high-resolution images gives them a distinct advantage. These models can process an extensive array of data inputs, making them particularly suitable for datasets with a rich visual context, as with plant disease images (Bousset *et al.*, 2019). This adaptability positions deep learning models, especially CNNs, as potent tools for addressing the nuances and complexities associated with disease identification in the agricultural domain (Bousset *et al.*, 2019).

Significant efforts have been witnessed in developing automated systems for recognizing crop diseases through adept computer vision techniques. Too *et al.*, (2019) conducted a comparative analysis using diverse pre-trained CNN models. Remarkably, their efforts culminated in an astounding accuracy of 99.75%, achieved by these models in classifying an extensive array of 38 plant disease categories.

Equally noteworthy is the work of Zhang *et al.*, (2022), who demonstrated the impact of CNN architectures by strategically employing data augmentation techniques. By doing so, they classified eight distinct maize leaf diseases, demonstrating the potential of CNNs to refine disease identification within specific agricultural contexts. Alehegn *et al.*, (2019) capitalized on machine learning support vector machines. Their approach was anchored in training a model using leaf colour and coarseness features, which proved effective in categorizing maize leaf diseases on Ethiopian maize farms.

Despite these strides, it is discernible that research in the realm of CNN models' application for maize leaf disease classification, particularly within Kenya's agricultural landscape, remains relatively sparse. We focus on a rigorous evaluation of transfer learning performance, expertly harnessing two potent CNN architectures: AlexNet and ResNet50. Through this endeavour, we aim to chart a course for successfully identifying maize leaf diseases. This area holds immense promise for revolutionizing disease management strategies within the specific context of Kenya's maize production landscape.

1.2 Statement of the Problem

Ensuring crop health is paramount in the broader context of global food security, with plant diseases emerging as a substantial obstacle to maize's sustainable and productive cultivation (Savary *et al.*, 2017). The identification of diseases affecting maize crops remains predominantly on visual scrutiny of symptomatic leaves, as Natesan *et al.* (2022) highlighted. This conventional practice has inherent shortcomings that impede its efficiency and reliability. Time, a valuable asset, is used excessively, making the process challenging and not financially viable. Additionally, the subjective nature of this method affects diagnosis accuracy, as outcomes can differ significantly depending on the observer's skill and knowledge, a weakness emphasized by Waheed *et al.*, (2020).

Computer vision and machine learning technologies have ushered in a new era of possibilities, offering potent remedies to counter the existing challenges (Owino, 2023). Deep learning and Convolutional Neural Networks (CNNs) are promising among these cutting-edge technologies. CNN models have exhibited their prowess in autonomously assimilating intricate image features and attaining high accuracy levels in disease identification across diverse fields (Kumar *et al.*, 2022). This remarkable capacity to discern complex patterns within images augments their potential to revolutionize disease diagnosis and pave the way for more efficient agricultural practices.

Despite the strides made in CNN technology, their tailored implementation for the unique spectrum of maize leaf diseases prevalent in Kenya has yet to be explored. This presents a novel opportunity to bridge this research gap and unlock the latent benefits of these advanced techniques for better maize farming in the region.

This study aims to bridge this gap by investigating the effectiveness of deep-learning CNN models, such as AlexNet and ResNet-50, in identifying and classifying maize leaf diseases in Kenya. By leveraging these advanced technologies, the research endeavours

to provide farmers with an accurate and efficient tool for early disease detection, enabling timely interventions and improving overall maize crop productivity and quality.

1.3 Objectives of the Study

This research sought to achieve the following objectives:

1.3.1 General Objective

The general objective of this study was to identify and classify three maize leaf diseases (MLN, MSD and GLS) using CNN architectures (AlexNet and ResNet50) and Support Vector Machine (SVM).

1.3.2. Specific Objectives

The specific objectives were:

- To identify maize leaf diseases (MLN, MSD and GLS) using AlexNet ResNet-50 and SVM models
- ii. To evaluate the performance of the AlexNet, ResNet-50 and SVM models in the classification of MLN, MSD and GLS.

1.4 Research Questions

The research questions were:

- i. What is the efficiency of AlexNet, ResNet 50 and SVM in maize leaf diseases (MLN, MSD and GLS) identification?
- **ii.** What is the performance of the AlexNet, ResNet 50, and SVM in the classification of MLN, MSD and GLS?

1.5 Justification of the Study

Maize is a vital staple crop in Kenya and plays a significant role in ensuring food security, income generation, and employment opportunities for small-scale and large-scale farmers. However, the maize industry faces considerable challenges due to the prevalence of plant diseases such as MLN, MSV, and GLS. These diseases cause substantial yield losses and impact the country's overall productivity and sustainability of maize farming.

The current methods for disease identification in maize crops heavily rely on visual analysis of symptomatic leaves by trained personnel and diagnostic techniques such as enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISA) and polymerase chain reaction (PCR) methods. However, these traditional approaches are time-consuming, subjective and costly (Zhou *et al.*, 2022). The accuracy and efficiency of disease identification are crucial for implementing appropriate disease control measures, selecting suitable pesticides, and implementing timely interventions. Unfortunately, the limitations of visual analysis impede the effective and efficient identification of maize leaf diseases, leading to suboptimal disease management strategies.

In recent years, computer vision and machine learning technologies, particularly deep learning and Convolutional Neural Networks (CNNs) have shown promising potential in disease identification and classification across various domains. These advanced technologies can automatically learn image features and achieve high levels of accuracy. However, their specific application for maize leaf disease identification in Kenya remains understudied, with limited research available. Therefore, this study aims to address these gaps and provide a comprehensive investigation into the efficacy of deep learning CNN models, specifically AlexNet and ResNet-50, for identifying and classifying maize leaf diseases in Kenya. By leveraging these advanced technologies, the research seeks to develop an accurate, efficient, and automated tool for early disease detection in maize crops. This tool will provide timely and reliable information to farmers and other stakeholders involved in maize crop protection/ production. It will enable them to implement appropriate disease control strategies, minimize yield losses, protect the environment, and ensure sustainable maize production.

Therefore, this study aims to address the current understanding and knowledge gaps systematically. This entails conducting an in-depth investigation into the effectiveness and capacity of deep learning CNN models, emphasising the AlexNet and ResNet-50 architectures in particular. The main goal is to determine these advanced models' applicability and effectiveness in identifying and classifying native Kenyan maize leaf diseases.

This research seeks to open the path for designing a creative and automated solution by utilising these cutting-edge technological innovations. This method is intended to be a precise and effective technique for the early identification and classification of diseases within maize crops. The strength of deep learning and CNNs support it. This innovative technology aims to provide timely, accurate, and reliable information to farmers and other stakeholders involved in maize crop security. This knowledge will be a crucial advantage, enabling them to rapidly implement accurate disease control measures and effectively mitigate possible yield losses.

10

The effects of this work transcend beyond its direct agricultural advantages, too. Once developed, the automated tool can promote disease management strategies that are environmentally friendly. It has the potential to dramatically minimise the ecological footprint associated with excessive pesticide application by permitting rapid responses and the wise use of resources. This strategy supports a larger vision of environmental protection and sustaining a healthy balance between crop yield and ecological well-being while enhancing agricultural sustainability.

Cultivating sustainable maize in Kenya is the study's primary goal; this is how it is ultimately expected to be completed. The study seeks to promote a change in disease identification by providing stakeholders with cutting-edge technology tools and knowledge, enabling preventive measures that protect both crop yields and the sustainability of the environment.

1.6 Scope of the study

This study primarily analyses maize leaf image features and their significance in identifying and categorizing maize leaf diseases. The research compares two Convolutional Neural Network (CNN) architectures, AlexNet and ResNet50, with Support Vector Machine (SVM), a machine learning technique applied to computer digital images.

This study justifies its scope by emphasizing the critical importance of understanding maize leaf image features for identifying and classifying maize leaf diseases. It highlights the relevance of this research to agriculture, especially in regions where maize is crucial for food security and economic stability. The study's focus on advanced technologies like Convolutional Neural Networks (CNNs) and the comparison with traditional methods like Support Vector Machine (SVM) underscores its contemporary significance. Furthermore, it addresses the research gap in applying CNNs to maize leaf diseases, particularly in specific geographical contexts like Kenya. The practical implications of this research extend to both small and large-scale maize farming, offering the potential for improved disease management and enhanced crop quality. Lastly, the study's contribution to the broader fields of computer vision and agricultural technology is emphasised, emphasising its potential to advance disease management strategies and support sustainable maize production for the benefit of farmers and the agricultural sector.

1.7 Limitations of the Study

An in-depth examination of the variety of characteristics found in photographs of maize leaves and their essential role in accurately detecting and categorizing maize leaf diseases i.e. maize lethal necrosis (MLN), maize streak virus (MSV) and grey leaf spot (GLS) forms the basis of this study. To achieve this goal, the research compares and contrasts the performance of two cutting-edge Convolutional Neural Network (CNN) designs, AlexNet and ResNet50. The performance of Support Vector Machine (SVM), a widely utilized machine learning method capable of processing digital images, is added to this comparison analysis.

In the design of this study, the SVM model is carefully trained by including essential information collected from pictures of maize leaves. These cover three characteristics: leaf colour, texture, and shape. By aligning with the strategy suggested by (Pujari *et al.*, 2016), this cutting-edge feature extraction method gives the research a strong basis based on tried-and-true approaches.

Nevertheless, it is critical to acknowledge and openly discuss the limitations of this study. Although carefully detailed within its stated goal, this research is limited to the diseases (MLN, MSV and GLS) and does not broaden its investigation to include the wide range of potential plant diseases or other agricultural crops. Therefore, even though the knowledge gained from this study provides an invaluable understanding of the complexities of the three maize diseases and their detection through cutting-edge technology, it is still prudent to recognize that the findings may not directly apply to other plant species or diseases. When attempting to apply the findings of this study to more general agricultural contexts, some caution is required because the precise symptoms and traits that define diseases in different plants or crops can differ. The work intentionally focuses on the specific area of the maize leaf diseases, deepening our understanding within this field and highlighting the necessity for more focused research to examine similar characteristics across various plant species and diseases. The photographs used in this study, which came only from maize farms in Embu County, served as a boundary for its scope. Although careful efforts were made to collect a wide variety of photos of infected maize leaves, it is important to recognize that the results might not fully capture the full range of maize leaf diseases present in many other geographic regions.

Although the photos from Embu County serve as a useful starting point for the study's inquiry of the maize leaf diseases in that particular area, the intrinsic levels of the diseases, in terms of severities, could potentially present differently in other locations. Different symptoms of the diseases may occur in various geographical regions due to variations in climate, conditions of the soil, agronomic practices, and the presence of associated diseases.

As a result, even while the study's findings provide important new information, it is prudent to acknowledge that they may not be universally extended to reflect the whole spectrum of the three leaf diseases across other geographies. When attempting to generalize the study's findings to larger maize-growing regions, one must take into account the study's sample size and geographic focus because research into plant diseases consequently takes into account the complex interplay of various ecological factors.

Furthermore, it's critical to note that various factors may potentially impact the effectiveness and application of the generated models. The complex interactions between variables, including changes in lighting, differences in image quality, and the potential occurrence of occlusions or instances of overlapping symptoms within the images, may adversely affect the accuracy and adaptability of the disease identification and classification process.

14

For instance, various colours and intensities of light can be put upon the images, changing how colour and texture are perceived. The capacity of the models to distinguish between healthy and diseased leaves may be subject to errors due to this variability. Similarly, differences in image quality, including elements like resolution and focus, may significantly impact how well the models can detect and interpret minute visual clues suggestive of the presence of disease. Additionally, due to the complexities of real-world conditions, it is possible for leaves to display many disease symptoms at once or to get partially veiled, resulting in obstructions. Due to the possibility of inaccurate isolation or classification of overlapping symptoms, this occurrence could potentially disrupt the models' recognition process.

Finally, it's critical to point out that the primary goal of this study was to apply computer vision and machine learning approaches solely to identifying maize leaf diseases. Although these methods have great potential to transform disease recognition, it's important to remember that the bigger picture of disease management involves intricate aspects beyond simple identification.

The selection and implementation of the best disease control strategies, for example, fall outside the realm of this study. Factors that go far beyond the scope of identification are required to select the appropriate actions to reduce disease outbreaks and the subsequent impact of these strategies on crop yield. These characteristics include the local climate, socioeconomic circumstances, and the success rate of various interventions in different scenarios. It is important to understand that while this study offers a fundamental cornerstone in identifying maize leaf diseases, the full domain of disease management contains an array of factors that call for independent scientific proposals.

CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Introduction

This chapter aims to comprehensively review the literature on maize production, constraints in maize cultivation, maize diseases, their causative agents, and the symptoms exhibited upon infection. Additionally, this chapter will focus on both traditional and digital image processing techniques and classification algorithms that have been employed to aid in identifying maize diseases. A comprehensive understanding of the current knowledge and research gaps can be established by reviewing the existing literature in this field.

2.2 Maize Production in Kenya

Maize is a globally significant cereal food crop, ranking third after wheat and rice (FAOSTAT, 2021). In sub-Saharan Africa, it holds paramount importance as a crucial food and income source for over 300 million smallholder households (Oyewale *et al.*, 2020). Consequently, the national food security of Kenya heavily relies on the production of an adequate maize supply to meet the ever-increasing national demand (FAOSTAT, 2021).

The total land area dedicated to maize cultivation in Kenya amounts to approximately 1.5 million hectares, with around 70-80% of maize being produced by small-scale farmers who achieve an average on-farm production of 1.5-2.6 tons per hectare (Kiponda *et al.*, 2023). However, maize production in the country faces numerous constraints, including the presence of insect pests, weeds, diseases, and various abiotic factors that limit its

growth and yield potential (Simtowe *et al.*, 2021). These factors collectively pose significant challenges to the productivity and sustainability of maize farming in Kenya.

2.3 Plant Diseases as a Threat to Maize Production

Significant threats to maize crops include grey leaf spot (GLS), maize lethal necrosis (MLN), maize streak virus (MSV), and ear rots. Various pathogens, including bacteria, fungi, and viruses, cause these diseases. They pose a significant challenge to the farming of maize. The most dangerous viruses among them are MLN and MSV, which cause severe damage to maize crops. They have a significant negative impact on the plant's health and yield. Additionally, fungi infections like GLS worsen the situation by reducing a plant's capacity to produce food through photosynthesis.

Real-world consequences of all of these problems include decreased maize production and quality. It is evident that these diseases have negative impacts on more than just agriculture; they also have negative effects on many people's ability to obtain food. Finding solutions to these diseases is therefore urgent. This entails correctly identifying them, controlling their spread, and developing solutions that mitigate their effects. By taking these measures, maize farming is protected from these harmful diseases and is more sustainable, ensuring enough food for everyone.

2.3.1 Maize Lethal Necrosis (MLN) Disease

The emergence of maize lethal necrosis (MLN) disease was initially documented in Bomet County, Kenya, in 2011 (Wangai *et al.*, 2012) and has since spread into other maize-growing areas of Kenya (Fig 2.1). MLN is the result of multiple infections in maize plants by maize chlorotic mottle virus (MCMV) along with any of the potyviruses such as Sugarcane mosaic virus (SCMV), Maize dwarf mosaic virus (MDMV), or Wheat

streak mosaic virus (WSMV) (Bernardo et al., 2021). The co-infection of these two viruses leads to the development of MLN, also known as Corn Lethal Necrosis (CLN) (Wamaitha et al., 2018). The transmission of MLN occurs through various insect vectors, including maize thrips (Frankliniella williamsi Hood), while aphids have been reported to contribute to the proliferation of SCMV (Mwando et al., 2018). Although the transmission rate of MLN through contaminated maize seeds is low (Bernardo et al., 2023), it remains a potential transmission route. MLN poses a significant threat to maize crops, causing severe yield losses and impacting farmers' livelihoods.



Figure 2.1 Distribution and losses affiliated by MLN in Kenya. Source De Groote *et al*, 2016

Maize crops in Kenya have been reported to suffer yield losses of up to 100% (Awata *et al.*, 2021), while in Peru, losses of 59% and in the Democratic Republic of Congo, losses ranging from 40% to 80% have been observed (De Groote *et al.*, 2016). Maize plants

infected with maize lethal necrosis (MLN) exhibit various characteristic symptoms. These include chlorotic mottling on the leaves, initially affecting young leaves at the whorl stage (Karanja et al., 2018). The mottling can range from mild to severe, accompanied by stunting of the plants and premature ageing (Awata et al., 2019). Necrotic lesions develop from the leaf margins towards the midrib, and young leaves in the whorl can experience necrosis, leading to the distinct 'dead heart' symptom. Ultimately, the entire plant may dry up (Awata et al., 2019). Severely affected plants often exhibit reduced cob size or fail to set grain (Figure 2.2). These symptoms collectively contribute to significant yield reductions and seriously threaten maize production. Understanding the symptoms of MLN is essential for early detection and effective management of the disease. Several control measures have been implemented to reduce the impact and spread of MLN disease in Kenya. These include quarantining maize from infected regions to prevent the movement of infected seeds, plants, or soil (Mudde et al., 2019). Crop rotation with non-host crops such as beans, cowpeas, or sorghum breaks the disease cycle and reduces the inoculum load (Xu et al., 2022). Use certified, clean seeds and hybrid, tolerant plants screened and tested for MLN resistance (Awata et al., 2022). Stringent monitoring and surveillance of MLN occurrence and distribution using rapid diagnostic kits and remote sensing (Richard et al., 2021; Biswal et al., 2022). Insecticide application to reduce the transmission of MLN by insect vectors such as thrips, aphids and leaf beetles (Wamonje et al., 2020). These control measures have contributed to the recent decline of MLN disease in Kenya. However, there is still a need for continuous research and development of more effective and sustainable strategies to combat MLN, such as genetic engineering, gene editing, biological control, and integrated pest management (Alemu, 2020).





Figure 2.2. Disease symptoms of MLN.(a) Mosaic and Mottling (b) Dead Heart (c) Shotened Internodes (d) Premature drying of the leaf sheath (e) Sterile Tassel (f) Premature drying husk. Source De Groote *et al*, 2016

2.3.2 Maize Streak Disease (MSD)

Maize streak virus (MSV) is considered one of the most severe viral diseases affecting maize crops, leading to significant yield reductions and threatening african food security (Tembo *et al.*, 2020). The first reported case of MSV occurred in central Kenya, and since then, the disease has spread to other maize-growing regions in mid-altitude ecological zones (Charles, 2019). Under natural infection conditions, yield losses due to MSV in sub-Saharan Africa can reach up to 100% (Ketsela *et al.*, 2022).

Symptoms of MSV are characterized by chlorotic stripes on maize leaves, which ultimately reduce the leaf's photosynthetic area, depending on the severity of the disease (Drechsler *et al.*, 2014). To effectively control and manage MSV, it is essential to have

robust and sensitive diagnostic tests capable of rapidly detecting the presence of MSV (Tembo *et al.*, 2020). Rapid and accurate detection methods enable early intervention and implementation of appropriate disease management strategies to minimize yield losses and protect maize crops (Paliwal & Joshi, 2022).

Several control measures have been implemented to reduce the impact and spread of MSV disease in Africa. These include quarantining maize from infected regions to prevent the movement of infected seeds, plants, or soil. Crop rotation with non-host crops such as legumes, cereals, or vegetables to break the disease cycle and reduce the whitefly population (Karavina, 2014). Field hygiene and early planting to avoid overlapping crops and reduce infection chances 24. Use of certified, clean seeds and tolerant or resistant maize varieties that have been screened and tested for MSV resistance (Martin & Shepherd, 2009). Insecticide application to reduce the transmission of MSV by whiteflies, especially during the early stages of crop growth (Karavina, 2014). These control measures have contributed to the management of MSV disease in Africa in recent years. However, there is still a need for continuous research and development of more effective and sustainable strategies to combat MSV, such as genetic engineering, biological control, and integrated pest management (Alemu et al., 2020).

The prevalence of MSD and its detrimental impact on maize production highlight the urgent need for improved disease management approaches. Developing effective strategies for MSD control requires a comprehensive understanding of the disease's epidemiology, transmission dynamics, and host-pathogen interactions. Furthermore, developing reliable detection tools will aid in the early detection and timely implementation of control measures, contributing to enhanced food security and sustainable maize production in affected regions (Stutsel *et al.*, 2021).

2.3.3 Grey Leaf Spot Disease

Grey leaf spot disease is a fungal infection caused by *Cercospora zeae-maydis* and is one of the most destructive diseases affecting maize crops (Yu *et al.*, 2018, Kinyua *et al.*, 2011). The first report of GLS in sub-Saharan Africa was documented in South Africa in 1990, leading to significant losses of up to 60% (Paul *et al.*, 2003). The disease spread to other regions, including Uganda in 1994 and Zimbabwe in 1995 (Dunkle and Levy, 2000). In Kenya, GLS has been reported to cause maize yield losses of up to 37% (Kinyua *et al.*, 2011).

The characteristic symptoms of GLS manifest as lesions on older maize leaves, exhibiting a colour change to pale brown or grey-tan, mainly concentrated along the veins (Paul, 2003). Severe outbreaks of GLS can result in considerable losses due to reduced photosynthesis and impaired grain fill. The severity of the disease is heavily influenced by favourable environmental conditions, such as warm temperatures and high humidity (Vines *et al.*, 2020, Paul, 2003).

Several control measures have been implemented to reduce the impact and spread of GLS disease in Kenya. These include destroying plant debris after harvest to eliminate the primary source of inoculum. Crop rotation with non-host crops such as legumes, cereals, or vegetables to break the disease cycle and reduce the fungal population (Kaya, 2022). Using certified, clean seeds and more tolerant or resistant maize varieties screened and tested for GLS resistance (Chung *et al.*, 2011). Applying fungicides, especially during the early stages of crop growth, protects the plants from infection and reduces the transmission of GLS by wind or rain (Aguado *et al.*, 2018). These control measures have contributed to the management of GLS disease in Kenya in recent years. However, there is still a need for continuous research and development of more effective and sustainable

strategies to combat GLS, such as biological control, integrated pest management, and genetic engineering (Alemu et al., 2020).

To mitigate the yield losses caused by GLS and other similar diseases, the accurate and efficient identification of the disease is of utmost importance. Early detection is crucial for implementing timely and effective disease management strategies, including fungicides and other control measures. By promptly identifying and addressing the presence of GLS, maize farmers can minimize the impact of the disease on crop yield and overall agricultural productivity (Ma *et al.*, 2022)

2.4 Traditional Approaches for Identification Maize Leaf Disease

Conventional techniques for identifying maize leaf diseases have historically employed diverse methodologies, including visual assessments conducted by seasoned pathologists and serological methods like Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA) and Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)-based techniques. However, these well-established methods have limitations that hinder their practicality in routine disease management (Elfatimi *et al.*, 2022).

The main drawbacks include time-consuming procedures that demand a significant amount of time. Furthermore, these techniques frequently call for destroying plant samples, damaging the plant and making it unsuitable for future growth. Another issue is the lack of real-time monitoring capabilities, which prevents the prompt intervention necessary for disease control. Additionally, these methods are unlikely to be effective when a single plant may be affected by multiple diseases, which could result in incorrect diagnoses (Khakimov et al., 2022). Therefore, it is crucial to develop a simple, unobtrusive framework that can quickly identify and categorize maize leaf diseases (Owino, 2023). A paradigm shift of this nature might usher in innovative disease monitoring, providing real-time insights that enable prompt and focused interventions, and effectively reducing the disease's impact on maize crop yield (Khakimov et al., 2022).

The significance of early disease detection cannot be overstated, as it bestows farmers with the power of foresight. This timely awareness empowers them to enact measures with surgical precision, such as judiciously deploying fungicides and insecticides, thereby averting excessive usage and resultant economic losses (Dubois *et al.*, 2021; Rocha *et al.*, 2020). The financial ramifications extend beyond the immediate - resource efficiency and contribute to substantial cost savings while aligning with sustainable agricultural practices.

Beyond the realm of economics, this paradigm shift holds I each crop dientrinsic ecological value. Adopting such a model by reducing unnecessary chemical applications aligns with a broader commitment to environmental protection. This virtuous cycle safeguards not only the health of the environment but also the well-being of humans and the diversity of life, curtailing the inadvertent consequences of overzealous chemical usage (Gunstone *et al.*, 2021).

2.5 Computer Based Vision Digital Images in Crop Diseases Identification

Adopting affordable and powerful digital computing solutions has gained much popularity due to the weaknesses in manual disease identification methods (Xie *et al.*, 2020). The transformational power of digital image processing ushers in an era where visual information is enhanced and harnessed for human interpretation and machine

comprehension, improving image data storage, transmission, and representation (Singh *et al.*, 2012).

The journey through the landscape of digital image processing follows a structured path involving a sequence of well-defined stages. Commencing with image acquisition, where the digital realm captures real-world visual data, the process advances into preprocessing, a critical phase to refine and enhance raw image inputs. Subsequently, image segmentation dissects these enhanced images into distinct, meaningful components. Feature extraction follows, where relevant attributes are distilled from the segmented image, paving the way for the heart of the process - recognition and classification. Here, the extracted features are employed to differentiate and categorize the image in line with predefined classes (Too et al., 2019). In this digital milieu, two dominant methodologies stand tall: machine learning and deep learning techniques (Stančić et al., 2022). Machine learning is a versatile approach where algorithms learn from patterns within data and adapt their response accordingly. On the other hand, deep learning, a subset of machine learning, uses layers of interconnected nodes to interpret data hierarchically, grasping intricate patterns and nuances that might evade traditional approaches (Stančić et al., 2022).

2.6 Machine Learning Techniques in Plant Diseases Detection and Classification

In digital agriculture, machine-learning techniques have swiftly emerged as potent tools for precise and efficient plant disease detection through the analysis of digital images (Kini *et al.*, 2023). This innovative approach hinges on extracting and interpreting a multitude of digital image attributes, ranging from leaf colour to shape and texture, all intricately woven together to create a comprehensive profile (Liu & Wang, 2021; Khan *et al.*, 2021).
The underlying mechanics of this technique are rooted in pattern recognition and learning from data. By systematically feeding the machine with an extensive array of digital images encompassing healthy and diseased plant samples, a robust algorithm learns to decipher the minute variations that set them apart (Genaev *et al.*, 2021). Each image helps build a mental library of indicators that can indicate the presence of a disease.

The beauty of machine learning lies in its capacity to rapidly process an immense volume of images, quickly identifying those nuanced features that elude human eyes. Once trained, the algorithm becomes a reliable classifier capable of independently assessing new images and delivering a verdict with remarkable accuracy (Yavuzer & Kose, 2022). This technology reduces the time required for disease identification and opens new avenues for large-scale monitoring and detection, heralding a transformative shift in how we safeguard agricultural productivity.

However, it is crucial to recognize that while machine learning techniques offer remarkable capabilities, they have certain limitations that warrant consideration. For instance, these techniques might not be sensitive to detecting disease images in their initial stages of infection, which is a critical aspect of disease management (Khan *et al.*, 2021; Liu & Wang, 2021).

Additionally, external factors can influence machine learning models' effectiveness. Variations in lighting conditions, for instance, can cast shadows or distort colours, potentially leading to erroneous assessments (Shoaib *et al.*, 2023). Similarly, occlusion – when parts of the plant or image are obstructed can confound the model's ability to accurately perceive the image (Shoaib *et al.*, 2023). These issues can collectively contribute to reducing the overall accuracy of disease recognition.

Understanding these limitations is essential to avoid overreliance on machine learning techniques without a comprehensive grasp of their intricacies. Moreover, it underscores the importance of holistic approaches that integrate these tools with complementary methods, creating a more robust and reliable disease detection framework that can effectively tackle various challenges.

Various models serve as machine learning classifiers, with Support Vector Machine (SVM), Decision Tree (DT), K-Nearest Neighbors (K-NN), and Random Forests (RF) being among the commonly employed ones (Jasrotia *et al.*, 2023).

2.6.1 Support Vector Machine – a Machine Learning Model

Support Vector Machines (SVM) are powerful tools within supervised machine learning, renowned for their adeptness in data analysis and pattern recognition (Yu & Kim, 2012). These models operate on robust learning algorithms meticulously crafted to dissect complex datasets and unveil discernible patterns that may not be readily apparent to the human eye. This remarkable trait makes them valuable assets for various analytical tasks, including classification and regression analysis (Kim *et al.*, 2018).

The true prowess of SVM is in its capacity to tackle diverse data scenarios. Not limited to linear data distributions, SVM can also proficiently navigate the intricacies of nonlinear data structures. This exceptional adaptability allows it to address the multifaceted complexities inherent in real-world datasets. Whether the data exhibits linear relationships or is characterized by intricate nonlinear correlations, SVM can aptly capture and distinguish these underlying patterns (Yu & Kim, 2012).

Support Vector Machines employ a strategic approach that elevates the original training data to a higher-dimensional space in classification. Within this augmented space, SVM meticulously constructs what is known as a hyperplane—a precise mathematical portrayal of a decision boundary that demarcates different data groups. This hyperplane plays a pivotal role as it effectively distinguishes one set of data from another, guiding the classification process (Spence & Fokas, 2010).

SVM's skill is especially evident when data relationships are not linear. In such instances, SVM adopts a technique by mapping the data into a higher-dimensional realm. This mapping involves intricate transformations that unveil subtle patterns that may be obscured in the original data dimensions. SVM crafts the optimal hyperplane within this transformed space that effectively separates the distinct classes. This higher-dimensional hyperplane serves as a dynamic bridge between different data clusters, allowing for precision in classification (Han & Kamber, 2012).

The key to SVM's effectiveness is its ability to identify support vectors and important data points that significantly impact where the decision boundary is placed. These vectors play a dual role: they define the decision boundary and maximize the gap between the data classes, enhancing the robustness of the classification. This concept is crucial as it not only aids in accurate classification but also bolsters the model's ability to handle new, unseen data with reliability (Bahari *et al.*, 2014).

By maximizing the margin distance between classes in the decision plane, SVM enhances the model's generalization capabilities and reduces the risk of overfitting (Prajapati & Patle, 2010).

2.7 Deep Learning Techniques in Plant Diseases Identification

Deep learning techniques have arisen as a beacon of promise in surmounting the hurdles that conventional machine learning models encounter in plant disease identification (Liu & Wang, 2021). These innovative methods have demonstrated a remarkable capacity for achieving specificity and accuracy in discerning plant diseases (Drenkow *et al.*, 2021). This prowess largely stems from their unique ability to extract intricate image features without laborious manual feature engineering autonomously (Xie *et al.*, 2020).

What sets deep learning apart is its innate capability to fathom complex patterns and relationships embedded within images. Unlike traditional methods that often necessitate a thorough process of hand-crafting features to suit the problem, deep learning models autonomously learn and refine these features from the data. This intrinsic aptitude enables them to capture even the subtlest cues that signify disease presence, culminating in heightened accuracy (He *et al.*, 2022).

The flexibility of deep learning models extends to their ability to handle vast amounts of data. This trait aligns perfectly with the demands of large-scale plant disease detection endeavours. In scenarios where datasets burgeon in size and complexity, these models remain unfazed, seamlessly scaling their processing capabilities to accommodate the abundance of information (Too *et al.*, 2019; Khan *et al.*, 2021).

Recognition of plant diseases has seen widespread use of deep learning models, demonstrating the field's rapid development. Boltzmann's Deep Machine (DBM) (Hess *et al.*, 2016), Deep Belief Networks (DBN) (Hasan *et al.*, 2020), and Deep Convolutional Neural Networks (CNN) (Mushtaq *et al.*, 2022) are a few examples of these models. Deep CNNs have attracted interest for their remarkable performance in plant disease

identification and classification, with precision rates of 99-99.2% (Lin *et al.*, 2020; Stani *et al.*, 2022).

Deep CNNs are distinguished by their capacity to seamlessly combine the strength of convolutional neural networks with the fundamental principles of deep learning. These models can recognize even the most subtle signs of disease due to this combination's outstanding ability to recognize intricate patterns within images. Through this inherent ability, they can achieve remarkably high levels of accuracy in differentiating between healthy and diseased plants (Purwono *et al.*, 2023).

However, it's prudent to note that these acknowledged methods have prerequisites. Deep learning models, particularly Deep CNNs, utilize large training datasets and require a great deal of accurately labelled data to optimize their performance. When faced with diseases they had not encountered during their training, their effectiveness can diminish, making them less skilled at spotting new or emerging conditions (Ren *et al.*, 2019).

Numerous Convolutional Neural Network (CNN) architectures have been used to identify plant diseases, including AlexNet, ResNet, GoogleNet, and imageNet (Maeda-Gutierrez *et al.*, 2021). Among these architectures, AlexNet and ResNet50 have demonstrated remarkable accuracy rates of up to 99% in plant disease recognition (Stančić *et al.*, 2022).

2.7.1 AlexNet CNN Architectures

AlexNet is a Convolutional Neural Network (CNN) architecture developed in 2012 (Antonellis *et al.*, 2015). This model is well-known for its high specificity, speed, and accuracy in identifying plant diseases (Too *et al.*, 2019). The input layer of AlexNet consists of a 227x227x3 colour image. The network comprises five convolutional layers, three pooling layers, three fully connected layers, and one activation layer (Stančić *et al.*, 2022).

AlexNet uses a dynamic approach to augment image data to strengthen its discernment capabilities. It carefully enters the image field and blends randomness into capturing a 224x224 region. This foray carefully uses various transformative operations, such as flipping and mirroring. In addition to expanding the training data pool, this orchestration of manipulations also acts as a safeguard against the risk of overfitting that might otherwise impair the convolutional neural network's learning process (Ren et al., 2019). This augmentation technique is similar to giving the model access to various viewpoints, each revealing new aspects of the image. This multifaceted understanding promotes adaptability and allows the network to spot even the most minute patterns across multiple scenarios. The model has developed a greater generalization capacity, enabling it to navigate previously unknown images effectively (Li *et al.*, 2022).

The method AlexNet uses for image down-sampling, which is crucial for controlling computational complexity while preserving essential features, further sets it apart from competitors. In contrast to the usual average pooling, the model chooses a maximum pooling approach for this endeavour. This method avoids the dangers of image blurring that average pooling may unintentionally introduce, maintaining the image's essential characteristics (Too *et al.*, 2019).

In addition, a meticulous overlap and coverage strategy distinguishes AlexNet's approach to pooling. This process is designed with smaller step sizes than the pooling core's dimensions. This calculated manoeuvre orchestrates a planned overlap between the pooling layer's outputs, creating a diverse array of features that enhance the understanding of the model as a whole. This carefully organized coverage effectively increases the network's accuracy because features are captured using a precision that mirrors the image's complex details (Stančić *et al.*, 2022).

In the network structure, an improvement over traditional CNNs is the addition of the Local Response Normalization (LRN) layer, which introduces a competition mechanism for the activity of local neurons (Du *et al.*, 2016). The LRN layer increases the influence of more significant values in the image and reduces less influential parts, enhancing the model's generalisation ability. There are two more enhancements in the back-end part of the neural network (Wu, Guo & Yang, 2021). First, the Rectified Linear Unit (ReLU) is chosen as the activation function of the network. This piecewise linear function makes the forward calculation simple and efficient without requiring complex index calculations (Du *et al.*, 2016). Second, dropout is used in the last few fully connected layers to randomly ignore some neurons, thus preventing the over fitting of the neural network model (Too *et al.*, 2019).

AlexNet efficiently utilises Graphics Processing Unit (GPU) acceleration to train deep convolutional networks, significantly improving the speed of network training and enhancing its overall performance (Zhang *et al.*, 2019). Combining these features and improvements has made AlexNet a powerful tool for accurate and fast disease identification in plant health assessment.

2.7.2 ResNet50 CNN Architectures

ResNet50 is a deep convolutional neural network architecture introduced by Microsoft Research in 2015. It has since been widely used in various computer vision applications, such as picture classification, object recognition, and image segmentation (Rahman *et al.*, 2023). The "50" in ResNet50 denotes the number of layers in the network, which

includes convolutional layers, pooling layers, fully connected layers, and shortcut connections (Jiang *et al.*, 2022).

The integration of residual connections, also known as skip connections, is at the core of ResNet50, a significant advancement that has completely changed the field of convolutional neural networks. The network's information flow has undergone a paradigm shift due to this intelligent architectural addition, which has given the network a remarkable resilience and depth that distinguishes it from others (Jiang *et al.*, 2022).

Consider this invention as a collection of connected bridges that cross the layers of the neural network. Traditionally, moving from one layer to another requires navigating a series of complicated pathways, and each layer may weaken the signal, similar to the echo of a distant voice. The diminishing gradient challenge caused by this signal attenuation can make it difficult to train deep neural networks. ResNet50 effectively overcomes this obstacle by including these bypass bridges. These connections serve as conduits, enabling the information to skip over certain network layers and vault straight to deeper levels. The data travels these direct routes without being hindered by the potential dampening effects of intermediary layers. This critical architectural development effectively "short-circuits" the vanishing gradient problem by incorporating these skip connections, significantly reducing signal distortion (Jiang *et al.*, 2022).

This architectural feat has profound implications. The network can delve into unprecedented depths without sacrificing performance by enabling information to flow unimpeded through these bypass bridges. This is a monumental departure from the traditional notion that increasing network depth might lead to diminishing returns in terms of accuracy. ResNet50 defies this conventional constraint, achieving both depth

33

and performance, effectively rewriting the rulebook for deep convolutional neural networks (Rahman *et al.*, 2023).

The fundamental building block of ResNet50 is the residual block, which comprises two or more convolutional layers followed by a shortcut connection (Chou *et al.*, 2023). The shortcut connection adds the original input of the block to the output of the block, enabling the network to learn residual mappings instead of directly learning the desired mappings (Rahman *et al.*, 2023). This characteristic empowers ResNet50 to efficiently train deep networks and achieve state-of-the-art performance on various image recognition tasks (Chou *et al.*, 2023).

ResNet50 is often pre-trained on large-scale image datasets, where it learns to recognize a wide range of visual concepts. After pre-training, the network can be fine-tuned or used as a feature extractor for specific tasks (Jiang *et al.*, 2022). By leveraging the learned representations from the lower layers, ResNet50 can effectively capture high-level features and generalize well to new images (Shafiq & Gu*et*, 2022). Its ability to learn complex features and adapt to different tasks makes ResNet50 a powerful and versatile tool for plant disease identification and classification.

2.8 Conceptual framework of the CNN Architectures: AlexNet and ResNet50

A conceptual framework serves as a visual representation of how a researcher envisions the relationships between variables within a study. This model is typically presented graphically or diagrammatically. The researcher posits that a conceptual framework is essentially a hypothesized model that identifies the key concepts or variables under consideration within a study, elucidating their interrelationships.

34

Convolutional Neural Networks (CNNs) consist of two main components: feature extraction and classification. The feature extraction segment comprises an input layer, convolutional layer with stride and padding, rectified linear unit (ReLU), pooling layer, and batch normalization layer. The classification part includes a fully connected layer, softmax activation, and output layer (Ramanjaneyulu *et al.*, 2020). In this study, two CNN architectures, namely AlexNet and ResNet50, were utilized (Fig 3.2).

AlexNet consists of an input layer, five convolutional layers with various filter sizes (e.g., 11x11, 5x5, and 3x3), seven ReLU layers, two normalization layers, three max-pooling layers, three fully connected layers, two dropout layers with a rate of 0.5, softmax activation, and an output layer (Purwono *et al.*, 2023). On the other hand, ResNet50 addresses the challenges posed by the increasing number of layers in CNNs, which can make learning more difficult and decrease accuracy. Residual Network (ResNet) tackles this issue by incorporating skip connections between layers. ResNet50 is a CNN architecture with 50 layers (Ganesan & Chinnapan, 2022).



Figure 2.3: Conceptual framework of the proposed model using AlexNet/ ResNet50

CHAPTER THREE

MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Introduction

This section dealt with the methodology that was used in carrying out the research. It describes the data sets, the pre-processing phase, the training phase, the description of the CNN and SVM architectures, and the evaluation of the CNN and SVM performance.

3.2 Data Sets

Maize leaf images of size 256x256 pixels were captured using a digital camera around farms within Embu County i.e KALRO Embu, and farms within Mutunduri Center, Kirigi Center, Manyatta Center, Kavutiri Center, Kianjakoma Center, Kivwe Center, Gatunduri Center, Kawanjara and ENA Area. The camera used to capture the images in this study was the Canon EOS 250D (Canon, UK). This camera is equipped with a range of advanced features that proved instrumental in obtaining high-quality images for disease classification. Notably, the Canon EOS 250D boasts a 24.1-megapixel advanced photo-system complementary metal oxide semi-conductor (CMOS) sensor, providing exceptional image resolution. It offers versatile shooting capabilities, including the ability to capture images in RAW format, which is crucial for preserving image quality during post-processing. The camera's DIGIC 8 processor ensures fast and efficient image processing, and its Dual Pixel CMOS Auto Focus system allows for accurate and rapid focusing, even in challenging lighting conditions. These features collectively contributed to the successful acquisition of the dataset used for disease classification.

The images were captured in August and September. This period typically falls within the country's dry season, with relatively lower humidity and minimal rainfall. These months

are characterised by abundant sunshine, with the days being generally warm and clear. The weather is often stable and predictable, making it an ideal time for capturing images for analysis. The reduced cloud cover and diminished intensity of sunlight in the mornings and evenings during this season were advantageous for minimizing challenges associated with image reflections in the classification process. These climatic conditions provided an optimal environment for the research, allowing for collecting high-quality data for the CNN and SVM analysis of maize leaf diseases.

The total number of images was 3200, with each category having 800 images as suggested by Wagle and R, (2021). A plant pathologist classified the diseased leaves to limit the number of images with multiple diseases. The study identified and classified three maize leaf diseases: Maize lethal necrosis, Maize streak virus and Grey leaf spot. Healthy leaves were used as a control in training our model (Table 3.1).

The dataset was split into three parts for deep neural network classification. The first part was the training set, i.e., a collection of images to be used by the network to learn its hidden parameters (weights and biases) automatically. The second dataset was the validation set that manually adjusted parameters that could not be automatically learned during training. We evaluated the trained model using the validation dataset at the end of each epoch. This allowed us to monitor the training process and detect overfitting instances. The third part of the data was used after the model training to test the model's accuracy.

Table 3.1: Distribution of data sources and division of images used in training validation and testing per disease

Maize leaf disease	Total data set	Training data set	Validation	Testing data set
Maize leaf necrosis	800	640	240	160

Maize streak disease	800	640	240	160
Grey leaf spot	800	640	240	160
Healthy control	800	640	240	160

Some Maize leaves showing various diseases identified and classified in this study are shown in Figure 3.1



Figure 3.1: A sample of maize leaf images representing crop disease used: (a) Grey leaf spot, (b) Maize lethal necrosis disease, (c) Maize streak disease, (d) Healthy maize leaf

3.3 Pre-processing Phase

The captured data images, initially sized at 256x256 pixels, were resized to match the default size of each CNN architecture. For the ResNet50 network, the images were adjusted to 224x224x3 pixels, while for AlexNet, the images were resized to 227x227x3 pixels.

3.4 Training Phase

In the training phase, we employed pre-trained ResNet-50 and AlexNet networks, utilizing transfer learning to adapt the output layers for our specific classification task. For ResNet-50, the final three layers of the original network were retrained to generate new layers: a fully connected layer, a softmax layer, and a classification output layer. Similarly, transfer learning was applied to AlexNet, following a comparative approach. The training parameters for AlexNet were configured as follows: The number of iterations was set to 162, with 27 iterations per epoch. The base learning rate was set to 0.0001, and the training process was conducted for six epochs.

3.5 Evaluation of Performance of AlexNet, ResNet50 and SVM in Maize Leaf Diseases Classification

The performance of AlexNet, ResNet50 and SVM in classifying the maize leaf disease was determined by considering four values generated during the testing phase. The values were:

- a) True Positive (TP): The number of values of the principal class that the model predicts right.
- b) False Positive (FP): The number of values of the principal class that the model predicts is wrong.
- c) True Negative (TN): The number of values of the secondary class that the model predicts right.
- d) False Negative (FN): The number of values of the secondary class that the model predicts is wrong.

Based on the above values, four evaluation metrics were scored: Precision, Recall, Accuracy, and F1 score as described below:

Accuracy: Accuracy was the most common metric used in many studies. It is used to find out how much a model is right. It is calculated as the sum of TP and TN divided by the total number of predictions, as shown below:

$$Accuracy = \frac{True \ Positive \ + \ True \ Negative}{True \ Positive \ + \ True \ Negative \ + \ False \ Positive \ + \ False \ Negative}$$

Recall is a measure of the number of accurately predicted true positives to the total number of positive predictions.

$$Recall = \frac{True \ positive}{True \ positive \ + \ False \ Negative}$$

ii) Precision was metric defines how many cases classified as TP actually are TP, and is calculated as the number of TP divided by the sum of TP and FP, as shown.

$$Precision = \frac{True \ positive}{True \ positive \ + \ False \ Positive}$$

iii) *The F1-score* is the harmonic mean between two metrics: precision and recall. It is used when the objective is to seek a balance between these two metrics. The F1 score balances both the prediction and recall metric and was calculated as presented below:

$$F1 Score = \frac{2 * Precision * Recall}{Precision + Recall}$$

Additionally, the model's performance was assessed by determining Model loss and Model accuracy. Model accuracy refers to the proportion of correctly classified instances. It is typically used for classification tasks, whereas model loss, on the other hand, is a measure of how well the model can predict the target output for a given input instance. The loss function represents the discrepancy between the predicted and actual output and is used to update the model parameters during training to minimize this discrepancy. A lower loss indicates that the model is better able to predict the target output for a given input instance (Montalbo & Hernandez, 2020). Model accuracy and model loss are important metrics that provide different information about the performance of the model.

CHAPTER FOUR

RESULTS FINDINGS AND INTERPRETATIONS 4.1 Introduction

This chapter presents the analysed data. It highlights the findings according to the study objectives. The objectives of the study were to: Identify maize leaf disease (MLN, MSD and GLS) using AlexNet ResNet-50 and SVM models and evaluate the performance of the AlexNet, ResNet-50 and SVM models in the classification of MLN, MSD and GLS.

4.2 Identification of Maize Leaf Diseases Using AlexNet, ResNet50 and SVM

Architectures

The results of the maize leaf disease identification using AlexNet, ResNet-50, and SVM models are presented in Table 4.1. All models achieved relatively high accuracies in identifying the three maize leaf diseases. The deep learning convolutional neural network models, AlexNet and ResNet50, exhibited higher accuracy than the machine learning SVM model.

AlexNet demonstrated the highest accuracy across the diseases, achieving 99.9% accuracy for Maize Streak Disease (MSD) and a slightly lower accuracy of 95.9% for Maize Lethal Necrosis (MLN). ResNet-50, on the other hand, achieved the highest accuracy of 99% for MSD recognition and 94% for MLN. In contrast, the SVM model exhibited lower accuracy in disease detection, with accuracies of 89% for MSD and 78% for Grey Leaf Spot (GLS). For the classification of healthy maize images, AlexNet achieved a perfect accuracy of 100%, while SVM showed the lowest accuracy of 90%.

Disease	Model	Accuracy (%)
Maze lethal necrosis	AlexNet	95.9
	ResNet50	94.0
	SVM	88.0
Maize Streak Disease	AlexNet	99.9
	ResNet50	99.0
	SVM	89.0
Grey leaf spot	AlexNet	97.4
	ResNet50	96.0
	SVM	87.0
Healthy	AlexNet	100
	ResNet50	97.9
	SVM	90

Table 4.1: Percentage accuracy in detection of maize leaf diseases by AlexNet, ResNet50 and SVM models

On average, both CNN architectures demonstrated higher accuracy in maize leaf disease detection than the machine learning SVM model. AlexNet exhibited the highest average accuracy of 98.3%, followed by ResNet-50, and lastly, the machine learning SVM model with an average accuracy of 88.5% (Figure 4.1). Based on these findings, we can conclude that the CNN algorithms, specifically AlexNet and ResNet-50, outperformed the machine learning SVM model in maize leaf disease recognition.



Figure 4.1: Average accuracy in identification of the three maize leaf diseases by AlexNet, ResNet50 and SVM

4.3 Performance of AlexNet, ResNet50 and SVM in Classification of Maize Leaf

Diseases

In the Maize Lethal Necrosis (MLN) disease classification, the AlexNet architecture demonstrated the best performance, achieving a precision, recall, and accuracy of 93.7%, 96.4%, and 95%, respectively. ResNet-50 closely followed with slightly lower precision, recall, and accuracy percentages of 94.0%, 89.1%, and 92.9%. The machine learning model SVM exhibited the lowest precision, recall, and accuracy percentages of 88.0%, 83.8%, and 88.4%, respectively (Table 4.2).

Table 4.2: Confusion matrix and performance of AlexNet, ResNet50 and SVM in recognition of MLN disease

Model	ТР	TN	FP	FN	Precision	Recall	F1-Score	Accuracy
AlexNet	239	236	16	9	93.7	96.4	95.0	95.0
ResNet50	188	273	12	23	94.0	89.1	91.5	92.9
SVM	176	266	24	34	88.0	83.8	85.9	88.4

Where TP represent true positive, TN- true negative, FP-false positive and FN- false negative

Similarly, for the classification of Maize Streak Disease, AlexNet outperformed all other models and achieved the highest recall of 100%. ResNet50 followed closely behind. In contrast, the SVM model recorded the lowest precision (89.0%), recall (85.6%), and accuracy (89.6%) for MSD classification (Table 4.3).

Table 4.3: Confusion matrix and performance of AlexNet, ResNet50 and SVM in recognition of MSD

Model	ТР	TN	FP	FN	Precision	Recall	F1-Score	Accuracy
AlexNet	249	250	1	0	99.6	100.0	99.8	99.8
ResNet50	197	299	3	1	98.5	99.5	99.0	99.2
SVM	178	270	22	30	89.0	85.6	87.3	89.6

Where TP represent true positive, TN- true negative, FP-false positive and FN- false negative

For Grey Leaf Spot fungal disease classification, AlexNet demonstrated the highest precision, recall, F1-score, and accuracy of 98.8%. ResNet-50 followed with slightly lower performance. The SVM model exhibited the lowest recall value of 81.7% for GLS classification (Table 4.4).

Table 4.4: Confusion matrix and performance of AlexNet, ResNet50 and SVM in recognition of GLS disease

Model	ТР	TN	FP	FN	Precision	Recall	F1-Score	Accuracy
AlexNet	247	243	3	7	98.8	97.2	98.0	98.0
ResNet50	192	283	8	17	96.0	91.9	93.9	95.0
SVM	174	261	26	39	87.0	81.7	84.3	87.0

Where TP represent true positive, TN- true negative, FP-false positive and FN- false negative

4.4 Model Accuracy and Loss Curves for CNN (Alexnet and Resnet50)

Architectures

The accuracy of a model provides insights into its overall performance by indicating the correct classification rate, while the loss of a model reflects the quality of its predictions. Ideally, a model should exhibit high accuracy and low loss. During the validation of AlexNet architecture, high model accuracy (Fig. 4.2 a) and low model loss (Fig. 4.2 b) were observed. The model's accuracy increased with each epoch while the loss function decreased (Figure 4.2 a, b). Similarly, ResNet-50 demonstrated high model accuracy (Fig. 4.3 c) and low model loss (Fig. 4.3 d). These findings highlight the exceptional performance, accuracy, and specificity of both AlexNet and ResNet50 in identifying and classifying maize leaf diseases. Additionally, the low model loss indicates that the predictions generated by these two CNN architectures were of high quality.



Figure 4.2: Model accuracy (a) and model loss (b) curves for the proposed models for AlexNet.



Figure 4.3: Model accuracy (c) and model loss curves (d) for ResNet50

CHAPTER FIVE

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Introduction

The discussion section delves into the compelling outcomes of this study, revealing the remarkable efficacy of the AlexNet and ResNet50 architectures in the realm of maize leaf disease identification. These architectures demonstrated outstanding average accuracies of 98.3% and 96.6%, respectively, underscoring their prowess in accurate classification. On the other hand, the machine learning SVM model, with an accuracy of 88.5%, showcased comparatively lesser performance.

5.2 Summary of Findings

The difference in disease identification accuracy between AlexNet and ResNet50 in this study can be attributed to their distinct designs. AlexNet, with its fewer layers, exhibits faster training speed and lower susceptibility to overfitting. This aligns with findings from previous research by Chow *et al.* (2023), who utilized a "dropout" regularization technique to mitigate overfitting and expedite model training. In contrast, ResNet-50, being a deeper and more intricate model compared to AlexNet, can capture more complex features within the data. However, this complexity also makes ResNet50 more prone to overfitting, particularly when dealing with small or noisy datasets. This observation is in line with the results reported by Sood and Singh (2020), who compared ResNet50 and VGG16 for detecting leaf rust in wheat and found that ResNet50 achieved a validation accuracy of 60% with datasets containing fewer than 300 samples, while VGG16 achieved an accuracy of 93.33%.

Furthermore, the lower accuracy of the support vector machine in maize leaf disease identification compared to the CNN models (AlexNet and ResNet-50) can be explained by the nature of CNNs designed explicitly for image data, which is typically high-dimensional and complex. CNNs can automatically learn relevant features from images, such as textures, shapes, and patterns, without manual feature extraction. In contrast, SVMs require explicit feature definitions, which can be time-consuming and less effective at capturing relevant features. CNNs also have the advantage of learning hierarchical representations, allowing them to capture low-level and high-level features important for plant disease classification. SVMs, on the other hand, are typically limited to linear or kernel-based models, which may not capture complex and non-linear relationships in the data as effectively.

The high performance of AlexNet and ResNet50 in terms of accuracy, precision, and recall can be attributed to the adoption of transfer learning in this study. This finding is consistent with earlier research by Chen *et al.* (2020), who reported increased accuracy in identifying rice lesion images in complex scenarios through transfer learning, achieving an average accuracy of 94%, surpassing standard training accuracy.

5.3 Conclusion

The results of this study demonstrate the effectiveness of AlexNet and ResNet50 architectures in the identification of maize leaf diseases, achieving average accuracies of 98.3% and 96.6%, respectively. The machine learning SVM model yielded the lowest accuracy of 88.5%. These findings highlight the superior performance of the convolutional neural networks, particularly AlexNet and ResNet50, in feature extraction and accurate classification of maize leaf diseases. Evaluation parameters presented in Table 4.2 further support the superiority of AlexNet and ResNet50 over SVM. AlexNet

consistently outperformed the other models, followed by ResNet50, while SVM obtained the lowest scores. These findings reinforce the significance of employing AlexNet and ResNet50 for classifying maize leaf diseases. By leveraging these advanced CNN models, farmers and stakeholders involved in maize crop protection can benefit from enhanced accuracy and specificity in disease detection, surpassing the limitations of traditional visual analysis methods commonly used in the field. Adopting the two CNN models offers the advantage of early disease identification, enabling prompt intervention measures to prevent the spread of diseases before they cause significant economic damage. This proactive approach can reduce crop yield losses and maintain overall crop quality. By integrating state-of-the-art technology like AlexNet and ResNet50 into maize disease management practices, farmers can make informed decisions regarding disease control strategies and ultimately improve their crop production and profitability.

5.4 Recommendations

Based on the findings of this study, the following recommendations are made for future research:

- i. This study focused on specific maize leaf diseases, such as Grey Leaf Spot, Maize Lethal Necrosis, and Maize Streak Disease. Future research could explore other economically significant maize diseases, such as Northern Leaf Blight (NLB), to broaden our understanding of the various threats to maize production. This models could also be used to classify and identify other diseases in various crops in Kenya.
- ii. While the current research utilized a computer-based model for disease identification, it is recommended to develop a mobile-based model. A mobile application would enable farmers and stakeholders to access the disease

identification system on their smartphones or tablets, facilitating real-time disease detection and prompt interventions.

- iii. To further enhance disease classification accuracy, ensemble methods are suggested. The overall performance and robustness of the disease identification system can be improved by combining different classifiers, such as Support Vector Machine (SVM), with other machine learning models.
- iv. The availability of comprehensive and diverse datasets is crucial for effectively training Convolutional Neural Networks models. Therefore, there is a need to create more extensive databases containing a wide variety of maize leaf disease images. This will enable CNN models to learn from more diverse examples and enhance their accuracy and generalization capabilities.

REFERENCES

- Aguado, A., Savoie, J., Chéreau, S., Ducos, C., Aguilar, M., Ferrer, N., Aguilar, M., Pinson-Gadais, L., & Richard-Forget, F. (2019). Priming to protect maize from Fusarium verticillioides and its fumonisin accumulation. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, 99(1), 64–72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.9142</u>
- Alehegn, E. (2019). Ethiopian maize diseases recognition and classification using support vector machine. *International Journal of Computational Vision and Robotics*, 9(1), 90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1504/IJCVR.2019.098012</u>
- Alemu, M. (2020). Trend of Biotechnology Applications in Pest Management: A Review. International Journal of Applied Sciences and Biotechnology, 8(2), 108–131. <u>https://doi.org/10.3126/ijasbt.v8i2.28326</u>
- Antonellis, G., Gavras, A. G., Panagiotou, M., Kutter, B. L., Guerrini, G., Sander, A. C., & Fox, P. J. (2015). Shake Table Test of Large-Scale Bridge Columns Supported on Rocking Shallow Foundations. *Journal of Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Engineering*, 141(5), 04015009. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)GT.1943-5606.0001284
- Awata, L., Ifie, B., Danquah, E., Jumbo, M. B., Suresh, L., Gowda, M., Marchelo-Dragga, P., Olsen, M., Prasanna, B., & Tongoona, P. B. (2022). Combining ability and performance of three-way maize hybrids for grain yield and resistance to maize lethal necrosis under contrasting environments [Preprint]. In Review. https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-262104/v1
- Awata, L. A. O., Beyene, Y., Gowda, M., L. M., S., Jumbo, M. B., Tongoona, P., Danquah, E., Ifie, B. E., Marchelo-Dragga, P. W., Olsen, M., Ogugo, V., Mugo, S., & Prasanna, B. M. (2019). Genetic Analysis of QTL for Resistance to Maize

Lethal Necrosis in Multiple Mapping Populations. *Genes*, 11(1), 32. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes11010032

- Awata, L. A. O., Ifie, B. E., Danquah, E., Jumbo, M. B., Suresh, L. M., Gowda, M., Marchelo-Dragga, P. W., Olsen, M. S., Shorinola, O., Yao, N. K., Boddupalli, P. M., & Tongoona, P. B. (2021). Introgression of Maize Lethal Necrosis Resistance Quantitative Trait Loci Into Susceptible Maize Populations and Validation of the Resistance Under Field Conditions in Naivasha, Kenya. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *12*, 649308. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2021.649308
- Bahari, N. I. S., Ahmad, A., & Aboobaider, B. M. (2014). Application of support vector machine for classification of multispectral data. *IOP Conference Series: Earth* and Environmental Science, 20, 012038. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/20/1/012038</u>
- Bashir, K., Rehman, M., & Bari, M. (2019). Detection and Classification of Rice Diseases: An Automated Approach Using Textural Features. *Mehran University Research Journal of Engineering and Technology*, 38(1), 239–250. https://doi.org/10.22581/muet1982.1901.20
- Batchelor, W. D., Suresh, L. M., Zhen, X., Beyene, Y., Wilson, M., Kruseman, G., & Prasanna, B. (2020). Simulation of Maize Lethal Necrosis (MLN) Damage Using the CERES-Maize Model. *Agronomy*, 10(5), 710. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy10050710
- Bernardo, P., Barriball, K., Frey, T. S., Meulia, T., Wangai, A., Suresh, L. M., Heuchelin, S., Paul, P. A., Redinbaugh, M. G., & Ohlson, E. W. (2023). Transmission, localization, and infectivity of seed-borne maize chlorotic mottle virus. *PLOS ONE*, 18(2), e0281484. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0281484</u>

- Bernardo, P., Frey, T. S., Barriball, K., Paul, P. A., Willie, K., Mezzalama, M., Kimani, E., Mugambi, C., Wangai, A., Prasanna, B. M., & Redinbaugh, M. G. (2021). Detection of Diverse Maize Chlorotic Mottle Virus Isolates in Maize Seed. *Plant Disease*, 105(6), 1596–1601. <u>https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS-07-20-1446-SR</u>
- Biswal, A. K., Alakonya, A. E., Mottaleb, K. A., Hearne, S. J., Sonder, K., Molnar, T. L., Jones, A. M., Pixley, K. V., & Prasanna, B. M. (2022). Maize Lethal Necrosis disease: Review of molecular and genetic resistance mechanisms, socio-economic impacts, and mitigation strategies in sub-Saharan Africa. BMC Plant Biology, 22(1), 542. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-022-03932-y
- Bousset, L., Palerme, M., Leclerc, M., & Parisey, N. (2019). Automated image processing framework for analysis of the density of fruiting bodies of *Leptosphaeria maculans* on oilseed rape stems. *Plant Pathology*, 68(9), 1749–1760. https://doi.org/10.1111/ppa.13085
- Charles, A. K., Muiru, W. M., Miano, D. W., & Kimenju, J. W. (2019). Distribution of Common Maize Diseases and Molecular Characterization of Maize Streak Virus in Kenya. *Journal of Agricultural Science*, 11(4), 47. <u>https://doi.org/10.5539/jas.v11n4p47</u>
- Charles, K. (2014). Maize streak virus: A review of pathogen occurrence, biology and management options for smallholder farmers. African Journal of Agricultural Research, 9(36), 2736–2742. <u>https://doi.org/10.5897/AJAR2014.8897</u>
- Chen, J., Chen, J., Zhang, D., Sun, Y., & Nanehkaran, Y. A. (2020). Using deep transfer learning for image-based plant disease identification. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, 173, 105393. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2020.105393</u>

- Chou, J.-S., Tjandrakusuma, S., & Liu, C.-Y. (2022). Jellyfish Search-Optimized Deep Learning for Compressive Strength Prediction in Images of Ready-Mixed Concrete. *Computational Intelligence and Neuroscience*, 2022, 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/9541115
- Chow, L. S., Tang, G. S., Solihin, M. I., Gowdh, N. M., Ramli, N., & Rahmat, K. (2023).
 Quantitative and Qualitative Analysis of 18 Deep Convolutional Neural Network
 (CNN) Models with Transfer Learning to Diagnose COVID-19 on Chest X-Ray
 (CXR) Images. SN Computer Science, 4(2), 141. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s42979-022-01545-8</u>
- Chung, C.-L., Poland, J., Kump, K., Benson, J., Longfellow, J., Walsh, E., Balint-Kurti, P., & Nelson, R. (2011). Targeted discovery of quantitative trait loci for resistance to northern leaf blight and other diseases of maize. Theoretical and Applied Genetics, 123(2), 307–326. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00122-011-1585-9</u>
- Da Rocha, E. L., Rodrigues, L., & Mari, J. F. (2020). Maize leaf disease classification using convolutional neural networks and hyperparameter optimization. *Anais Do XVI Workshop de Visão Computacional (WVC 2020)*, 104–110. https://doi.org/10.5753/wvc.2020.13489
- De Groote, H., Oloo, F., Tongruksawattana, S., & Das, B. (2016). Community-survey based assessment of the geographic distribution and impact of maize lethal necrosis (MLN)
 disease in Kenya. Crop Protection, 82, 30–35.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2015.12.003
- Drechsler, N., Thieme, T., Shepherd, D. N., & Schubert, J. (2014). Evaluation of the resistance of German cultivars of maize and sorghum to Maize streak virus. *Journal* of Plant Diseases and Protection, 121(1), 3–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03356484</u>

- Drenkow, N., Sani, N., Shpitser, I., & Unberath, M. (2021). A Systematic Review of Robustness in Deep Learning for Computer Vision: Mind the gap? https://doi.org/10.48550/ARXIV.2112.00639
- Du, Z., Fasthuber, R., Chen, T., Ienne, P., Li, L., Luo, T., Feng, X., Chen, Y., & Temam, O. (2016). ShiDianNao: Shifting vision processing closer to the sensor. ACM SIGARCH
 Computer Architecture News, 43(3S), 92–104. https://doi.org/10.1145/2872887.2750389
- Dubois, A., Teytaud, F., & Verel, S. (2021). Short term soil moisture forecasts for potato crop farming: A machine learning approach. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, 180, 105902. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2020.105902
- Dunkle, L. D., & Levy, M. (2000). Genetic Relatedness of African and United States Populations of Cercospora zeae-maydis. Phytopathology®, 90(5), 486–490. <u>https://doi.org/10.1094/PHYTO.2000.90.5.486</u>
- Elfatimi, E., Eryigit, R., & Elfatimi, L. (2022). Beans Leaf Diseases Classification Using MobileNet Models. *IEEE Access*, *10*, 9471–9482. https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2022.3142817
- Erenstein, O., Jaleta, M., Sonder, K., Mottaleb, K., & Prasanna, B. M. (2022). Global maize production, consumption and trade: Trends and R&D implications. *Food Security*, 14(5), 1295–1319. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12571-022-01288-7
- FAOSTAT. (2021). Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations FAOSTAT database.
- Ganesan, G., & Chinnappan, J. (2022). Hybridization of ResNet with YOLO classifier for automated paddy leaf disease recognition: An optimized model. *Journal of Field Robotics*, 39(7), 1085–1109. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/rob.22089</u>

- Genaev, M. A., Skolotneva, E. S., Gultyaeva, E. I., Orlova, E. A., Bechtold, N. P., & Afonnikov, D. A. (2021). Image-Based Wheat Fungi Diseases Identification by Deep Learning. *Plants*, 10(8), 1500. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/plants10081500</u>
- Gunstone, T., Cornelisse, T., Klein, K., Dubey, A., & Donley, N. (2021). Pesticides and Soil Invertebrates: A Hazard Assessment. *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, 9, 643847. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2021.643847

Han, J., & Kamber, M. (2012). Data mining: Concepts and techniques (3rd ed). Elsevier.

- Hasan, A., Kalıpsız, O., & Akyokuş, S. (2020). Modeling Traders' Behavior with Deep Learning and Machine Learning Methods: Evidence from BIST 100 Index. *Complexity*, 2020, 1–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/8285149</u>
- He, J., Lyu, D., He, L., Zhang, Y., Xu, X., Yi, H., Tian, Q., Liu, B., & Zhang, X. (2022).
 Combining Object-Oriented and Deep Learning Methods to Estimate Photosynthetic and Non-Photosynthetic Vegetation Cover in the Desert from Unmanned Aerial Vehicle Images with Consideration of Shadows. *Remote Sensing*, 15(1), 105. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs15010105
- Hernández, I., Gutiérrez, S., Ceballos, S., Iñíguez, R., Barrio, I., & Tardaguila, J. (2021). Artificial Intelligence and Novel Sensing Technologies for Assessing Downy Mildew in Grapevine. *Horticulturae*, 7(5), 103. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/horticulturae7050103</u>
- Hess, M., Lenz, S., Blätte, T. J., Bullinger, L., & Binder, H. (2016). Partitioned Learning of Deep Boltzmann Machines for SNP Data [Preprint]. Bioinformatics. https://doi.org/10.1101/095638
- Jasrotia, S., Yadav, J., Rajpal, N., Arora, M., & Chaudhary, J. (2023). Convolutional Neural Network Based Maize Plant Disease Identification. *Procedia Computer Science*, 218, 1712–1721. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2023.01.149</u>

- Jiang, C., Jiang, C., Chen, D., & Hu, F. (2022). Densely Connected Neural Networks for Nonlinear Regression. *Entropy*, 24(7), 876. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/e24070876</u>
- Karavina, C. (2014). Maize streak virus: A review of pathogen occurrence, biology and management options for small holder farmers.
- Karanja, J., Derera, J., Gubba, A., Mugo, S., & Wangai, A. (2018). Response of Selected Maize Inbred Germplasm to Maize Lethal Necrosis Disease and Its Causative Viruses (Sugarcane Mosaic Virus and Maize Chlorotic Mottle Virus) in Kenya. *The Open Agriculture Journal*, 12(1), 215–226. <u>https://doi.org/10.2174/1874331501812010215</u>
- Kaya, R. (2022). Cercospora Leaf Spot Disease. In V. Misra, S. Srivastava, & A. K. Mall (Eds.), Sugar Beet Cultivation, Management and Processing (pp. 565–590). Springer Nature Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-2730-0_27
- Ketsela, D., Oyeniran, K. A., Feyissa, B., Fontenele, R. S., Kraberger, S., & Varsani, A. (2022). Molecular identification and phylogenetic characterization of A-strain isolates of maize streak virus from western Ethiopia. *Archives of Virology*, *167*(12), 2753–2759. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00705-022-05614-4</u>
- Khakimov, A., Salakhutdinov, I., Omolikov, A., & Utaganov, S. (2022). Traditional and current-prospective methods of agricultural plant diseases detection: A review. *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, 951(1), 012002. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/951/1/012002
- Khan, R. U., Khan, K., Albattah, W., & Qamar, A. M. (2021). Image-Based Detection of Plant Diseases: From Classical Machine Learning to Deep Learning Journey. *Wireless Communications and Mobile Computing*, 2021, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/5541859

- Kibe, M., Nair, S. K., Das, B., Bright, J. M., Makumbi, D., Kinyua, J., Suresh, L. M., Beyene, Y., Olsen, M. S., Prasanna, B. M., & Gowda, M. (2020). Genetic Dissection of Resistance to Gray Leaf Spot by Combining Genome-Wide Association, Linkage Mapping, and Genomic Prediction in Tropical Maize Germplasm. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 11, 572027. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2020.572027</u>
- Kimotho, R. N., Baillo, E. H., & Zhang, Z. (2019). Transcription factors involved in abiotic stress responses in Maize (*Zea mays* L.) and their roles in enhanced productivity in the post genomics era. *PeerJ*, 7, e7211. <u>https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.7211</u>
- Kini, A. S., Reddy, P. K. V., & Pai, S. N. (2023). Techniques of deep learning and image processing in plant leaf disease detection: A review. *International Journal of Electrical and Computer Engineering (IJECE)*, 13(3), 3029. <u>https://doi.org/10.11591/ijece.v13i3.pp3029-3040</u>
- Kinyua, Z., Smith, J., Kibata, G., Simons, S., & Langat, B. (2011). Status of grey leaf spot disease in Kenyan maize production ecosystems. *African Crop Science Journal*, 18(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.4314/acsj.v18i4.68647</u>
- Kiponda, O., Muindi, E. M., Ndiso, J. B., Mulinge, J. M., Wamukota, A. W., & Okello, N. (2023). Response of Maize-Green Gram Intercropping to Manure and Mineral Fertilizers in Post Mined Soils. *Journal of Agriculture and Ecology Research International*, 24(2), 34–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.9734/jaeri/2023/v24i2524</u>
- Kitonde, C., Dossaji, S. F., Lukhoba, C. W., Wagacha, J. M., Klittich, C., Hahn, D., Fotso,
 S., Graupner, P., Slanec, T., & Xiong, Q. (2019). In vitro studies of 3-OMethylquercetin against phytopathogenic fungi of major cereals. *Journal of Agricultural* Science and Practice, 4(4), 102–112.
 https://doi.org/10.31248/JASP2019.145

- Kumar, R., Chug, A., Singh, A. P., & Singh, D. (2022). A Systematic Analysis of Machine Learning and Deep Learning Based Approaches for Plant Leaf Disease Classification: A Review. *Journal of Sensors*, 2022, 1–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/3287561</u>
- Li, Z., Li, C., Deng, L., Fan, Y., Xiao, X., Ma, H., Qin, J., & Zhu, L. (2022). Improved AlexNet with Inception-V4 for Plant Disease Diagnosis. *Computational Intelligence and Neuroscience*, 2022, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/5862600
- Lin, K., Zhao, H., Lv, J., Li, C., Liu, X., Chen, R., & Zhao, R. (2020). Face Detection and Segmentation Based on Improved Mask R-CNN. *Discrete Dynamics in Nature and Society*, 2020, 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/9242917</u>
- Liu, J., & Wang, X. (2021). Plant diseases and pests detection based on deep learning: A review. *Plant Methods*, 17(1), 22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13007-021-00722-9</u>
- Liu, R. (2023). Paddy Disease Classification Based on the Lightweight MobileNet-V2. *Highlights in Science, Engineering and Technology*, 57, 126–133. <u>https://doi.org/10.54097/hset.v57i.9990</u>
- Ma, Z., Wang, Y., Zhang, T., Wang, H., Jia, Y., Gao, R., Su, Z. (2022). Maize leaf disease identification using deep transfer convolutional neural networks. *International Journal of Agricultural and Biological Engineering*, 15(5), 187–195. <u>https://doi.org/10.25165/j.ijabe.20221505.6658</u>
- Maeda-Gutiérrez, V., Galván-Tejada, C. E., Zanella-Calzada, L. A., Celaya-Padilla, J. M., Galván-Tejada, J. I., Gamboa-Rosales, H., Luna-García, H., Magallanes-Quintanar, R., Guerrero Méndez, C. A., & Olvera-Olvera, C. A. (2020). Comparison of Convolutional Neural Network Architectures for Classification of Tomato Plant Diseases. *Applied Sciences*, 10(4), 1245. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/app10041245</u>
- Martin, D. P., & Shepherd, D. N. (2009). The epidemiology, economic impact and control of maize streak disease. *Food Security*, 1(3), 305–315. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12571-009-0023-1</u>
- Matinuu Sigit, F., Syaifudin, R., & Suryaningrum, D. A. (2022). Disease Detection System in Tobacco Leaves based on Edge Detection with Decision Tree Classification Method. *Proceedings of the International Seminar on Business, Education and Science*, 1, 224–232. https://doi.org/10.29407/int.v1i1.2636
- Montalbo, F. J. P., & Hernandez, A. A. (2020). An Optimized Classification Model for Coffea Liberica Disease using Deep Convolutional Neural Networks. In 2020 16th IEEE International Colloquium on Signal Processing & Its Applications (CSPA) (pp. 213-218). IEEE.
- Mudde, B., Miano, D. W., Olubayo, F. M., Asea, G., Kilalo, D. C., Kwemoi, D. B., Adriko, J., Ssekiwoko, F., Male, A., and Kiggundu, A. (2019). Susceptibility of common weeds and cultivated crops in major maize growing agroecological zones of Uganda to viruses causing maize lethal necrosis disease. African Journal of Biological Sciences, 01(04), 01. <u>https://doi.org/10.33472/AFJBS.1.4.2019.1-14</u>
- Mushtaq, Z., Nasti, S., Verma, C., Raboaca, M., Kumar, N., & Nasti, S. (2022). Super Resolution for Noisy Images Using Convolutional Neural Networks. *Mathematics*, 10(5), 777. https://doi.org/10.3390/math10050777
- Mwando, N. L., Tamiru, A., Nyasani, J. O., Obonyo, M. A. O., Caulfield, J. C., Bruce, T. J.
 A., & Subramanian, S. (2018). Maize Chlorotic Mottle Virus Induces Changes in Host Plant Volatiles that Attract Vector Thrips Species. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, 44(7–8), 681–689. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10886-018-0973-x</u>

- Natesan, B., Singaravelan, A., Hsu, J.-L., Lin, Y.-H., Lei, B., & Liu, C.-M. (2022). Channel– Spatial Segmentation Network for Classifying Leaf Diseases. *Agriculture*, 12(11), 1886. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/agriculture12111886</u>
- Nosipho Hlophe-Ginindza, S., & Mpandeli, N. S. (2021). The Role of Small-Scale Farmers in Ensuring Food Security in Africa. In B. Mahmoud (Ed.), *Food Security in Africa*. IntechOpen. <u>https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.91694</u>
- Omkar, S., G. (2023). A Research Paper on Smart Farming using IoT. International Journal of Advanced Research in Science, Communication and Technology, 230–235. <u>https://doi.org/10.48175/IJARSCT-11636</u>
- Owino, A. (2023). Challenges of Computer Vision Adoption in the Kenyan Agricultural Sector and How to Solve Them: A General Perspective. Advances in Agriculture, 2023, 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2023/1530629</u>
- Oyewale, R. O., Salaudeen, M. T., Bamaiyi, L. J., & Bello, L. Y. (2020). Ecology and Distribution of Stem Borers in Nigeria. Sustainability in Food and Agriculture, 1(1), 27–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.26480/sfna.01.2020.27.36</u>
- Paliwal, J., & Joshi, S. (2022). An Overview of Deep Learning Models for Foliar Disease Detection in Maize Crop. *Journal of Artificial Intelligence and Systems*, 4(1), 1–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.33969/AIS.2022040101</u>
- Paul, P. A. (2003). Epidemiology and predictive management of gray leaf spot of maize (p. 6094356) [Doctor of Philosophy, Iowa State University, Digital Repository].
 https://doi.org/10.31274/rtd-180813-11423
- Prajapati, G. L., & Patle, A. (2010). On Performing Classification Using SVM with Radial Basis and Polynomial Kernel Functions. 2010 3rd International Conference on

Emerging Trends in Engineering and Technology, 512–515. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICETET.2010.134

- Pujari, D., Yakkundimath, R., & Byadgi, Abdulmunaf. S. (2016). SVM and ANN Based Classification of Plant Diseases Using Feature Reduction Technique. *International Journal of Interactive Multimedia and Artificial Intelligence*, 3(7), 6. https://doi.org/10.9781/ijimai.2016.371
- Purwono, P., Ma'arif, A., Rahmaniar, W., Fathurrahman, H. I. K., Frisky, A. Z. K., & Haq,
 Q. M. U. (2023). Understanding of Convolutional Neural Network (CNN): A Review. *International Journal of Robotics and Control Systems*, 2(4), 739–748.
 https://doi.org/10.31763/ijrcs.v2i4.888
- Richard, K., Abdel-Rahman, E. M., Subramanian, S., Nyasani, J. O., Thiel, M., Jozani, H. J., Borgemeister, C., Mudereri, B. T., & Landmann, T. (2021). Estimating maize lethal necrosis (MLN) severity in Kenya using multispectral high-resolution data. *Applied Geomatics*, 13(3), 389–400. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12518-021-00357-4</u>
- Rahman, H., Naik Bukht, T. F., Ahmad, R., Almadhor, A., & Javed, A. R. (2023). Efficient Breast Cancer Diagnosis from Complex Mammographic Images Using Deep Convolutional Neural Network. *Computational Intelligence and Neuroscience*, 2023, 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2023/7717712</u>
- Ramanjaneyulu, K., Swamy, K. V., & Rao, C. S. (2020). A Novel Multi Hidden Layer Convolutional Neural Network for Content Based Image Retrieval. *International Journal of Engineering and Advanced Technology*, 9(3), 365–370. https://doi.org/10.35940/ijeat.C4771.029320
- Sánchez, H. D., Martin, G., Damjanov, I., Buitrago, F., Huertas-Company, M., Bottrell, C., Bernardi, M., Knapen, J. H., Vega-Ferrero, J., Hausen, R., Kado-Fong, E., Población-

Criado, D., Souchereau, H., Leste, O. K., Robertson, B., Sahelices, B., & Johnston, K. V. (2023). Identification of tidal features in deep optical galaxy images with convolutional neural networks. *Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society*, *521*(3), 3861–3872. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/mnras/stad750</u>

- Savary, S., Bregaglio, S., Willocquet, L., Gustafson, D., Mason D'Croz, D., Sparks, A., Castilla, N., Djurle, A., Allinne, C., Sharma, M., Rossi, V., Amorim, L., Bergamin, A., Yuen, J., Esker, P., McRoberts, N., Avelino, J., Duveiller, E., Koo, J., & Garrett, K. (2017). Crop health and its global impacts on the components of food security. *Food Security*, 9(2), 311–327. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12571-017-0659-1</u>
- Shafiq, M., & Gu, Z. (2022). Deep Residual Learning for Image Recognition: A Survey. *Applied Sciences*, 12(18), 8972. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/app12188972</u>
- Shoaib, M., Shah, B., EI-Sappagh, S., Ali, A., Ullah, A., Alenezi, F., Gechev, T., Hussain, T., & Ali, F. (2023). An advanced deep learning models-based plant disease detection: A review of recent research. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 14, 1158933. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2023.1158933</u>
- Simtowe, F., Makumbi, D., Worku, M., Mawia, H., & Rahut, D. B. (2021). Scalability of Adaptation strategies to drought stress: The case of drought tolerant maize varieties in Kenya. *International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability*, 19(1), 91–105. https://doi.org/10.1080/14735903.2020.1823699
- Singh, A., Singh, P. I., & Kaur, P. (2012). Digital Image Enhancement with Fuzzy Interface System. International Journal of Information Technology and Computer Science, 4(10), 51–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.5815/ijitcs.2012.10.06</u>
- Sood, S., & Singh, H. (2020). An implementation and analysis of deep learning models for the detection of wheat rust disease. 2020 3rd International Conference on Intelligent

Sustainable	Systems	(ICISS),	341–347.

https://doi.org/10.1109/ICISS49785.2020.9316123

- Spence, E. A., & Fokas, A. S. (2010). A new transform method I: Domain-dependent fundamental solutions and integral representations. *Proceedings of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 466*(2120), 2259–2281. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspa.2009.0512
- Stančić, A., Vyroubal, V., & Slijepčević, V. (2022). Classification Efficiency of Pre-Trained Deep CNN Models on Camera Trap Images. *Journal of Imaging*, 8(2), 20. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/jimaging8020020</u>
- Stutsel, B., Johansen, K., Malbéteau, Y. M., & McCabe, M. F. (2021). Detecting Plant Stress Using Thermal and Optical Imagery From an Unoccupied Aerial Vehicle. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 12, 734944. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2021.734944</u>
- Tembo, M., Adediji, A. O., Bouvaine, S., Chikoti, P. C., Seal, S. E., & Silva, G. (2020). A quick and sensitive diagnostic tool for detection of Maize streak virus. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 19633. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-76612-2</u>
- Too, E. C., Yujian, L., Njuki, S., & Yingchun, L. (2019). A comparative study of fine-tuning deep learning models for plant disease identification. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, 161, 272–279. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2018.03.032</u>
- Vines, P. L., Daddio, R. M., Luo, J., Wang, R., Murphy, J. A., Zhang, N., Clarke, B. B., Meyer, W. A., & Bonos, S. A. (2022). *Pyricularia oryzae* incites gray leaf spot disease on hard fescue (*Festuca brevipila*). *International Turfgrass Society Research Journal*, 14(1), 997–1002. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/its2.17</u>

- Wagle, S. A., & R, H. (2021). Comparison of Plant Leaf Classification Using Modified AlexNet and Support Vector Machine. *Traitement Du Signal*, 38(1), 79–87. <u>https://doi.org/10.18280/ts.380108</u>
- Waheed, A., Goyal, M., Gupta, D., Khanna, A., Hassanien, A. E., & Pandey, H. M. (2020). An optimized dense convolutional neural network model for disease recognition and classification in corn leaf. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, 175, 105456. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2020.105456
- Wamaitha, M. J., Nigam, D., Maina, S., Stomeo, F., Wangai, A., Njuguna, J. N., Holton, T. A., Wanjala, B. W., Wamalwa, M., Lucas, T., Djikeng, A., & Garcia-Ruiz, H. (2018).
 Metagenomic analysis of viruses associated with maize lethal necrosis in Kenya. *Virology Journal*, 15(1), 90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12985-018-0999-2</u>
- Wamonje, F. O. (2020). Post-COVID-19 Action: Guarding Africa's Crops against Viral Epidemics Requires Research Capacity Building That Unifies a Trio of Transdisciplinary Interventions. *Viruses*, *12*(11), 1276. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/v12111276</u>
- Wangai, A. W., Redinbaugh, M. G., Kinyua, Z. M., Miano, D. W., Leley, P. K., Kasina, M., Mahuku, G., Scheets, K., & Jeffers, D. (2012). First Report of *Maize chlorotic mottle virus* and Maize Lethal Necrosis in Kenya. *Plant Disease*, 96(10), 1582–1582. https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS-06-12-0576-PDN
- World Food and Agriculture *Statistical Yearbook 2021*. (2021). FAO. https://doi.org/10.4060/cb4477en
- Wu, Y., Guo, W., & Yang, D. (2021). Application of Neural Network Model Based on Multispecies Evolutionary Genetic Algorithm to Planning and Design of Diverse

Plant Landscape. *Computational Intelligence and Neuroscience*, 2021, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/9031366

- Xie, X., Ma, Y., Liu, B., He, J., Li, S., & Wang, H. (2020). A Deep-Learning-Based Real-Time Detector for Grape Leaf Diseases Using Improved Convolutional Neural Networks. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 11, 751. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2020.00751</u>
- Xu, F., Baker, R. C., Whitaker, T. B., Luo, H., Zhao, Y., Stevenson, A., Boesch, C. J., & Zhang, G. (2022). Review of good agricultural practices for smallholder maize farmers to minimise aflatoxin contamination. *World Mycotoxin Journal*, 15(2), 171–186. https://doi.org/10.3920/WMJ2021.2685
- Yavuzer, E., & Köse, M. (2022). Prediction of fish quality level with machine learning. International Journal of Food Science & Technology, 57(8), 5250–5255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ijfs.15853</u>
- Yu, H., & Kim, S. (2012). SVM Tutorial—Classification, Regression and Ranking. In G.
 Rozenberg, T. Bäck, & J. N. Kok (Eds.), *Handbook of Natural Computing* (pp. 479– 506). Springer Berlin Heidelberg. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-92910-9_15</u>
- Yu, Y., Shi, J., Li, X., Liu, J., Geng, Q., Shi, H., Ke, Y., & Sun, Q. (2018). Transcriptome analysis reveals the molecular mechanisms of the defense response to gray leaf spot disease in maize. *BMC Genomics*, 19(1), 742. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-018-5072-4</u>
- Yu, Z., Ye, J., Li, C., Zhou, H., & Li, X. (2023). TasselLFANet: A novel lightweight multibranch feature aggregation neural network for high-throughput image-based maize tassels detection and counting. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 14, 1158940. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2023.1158940

- Zhang, T., Wang, J., Dan, Y., Lanqiu, Y., Dai, J., Han, X., Sun, X., & Xu, K. (2019). Efficient training and design of photonic neural network through neuroevolution. *Optics Express*, 27(26), 37150. <u>https://doi.org/10.1364/OE.27.037150</u>
- Zhang, Y., Wang, H., Li, C., & Meriaudeau, F. (2022). Data augmentation aided complexvalued network for channel estimation in underwater acoustic orthogonal frequency division multiplexing system. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 151(6), 4150–4164. https://doi.org/10.1121/10.0011674
- Zhou, Y., Chen, J., Ma, J., Han, X., Chen, B., Li, G., Xiong, Z., & Huang, F. (2022). Early warning and diagnostic visualization of Sclerotinia infected tomato based on hyperspectral imaging. *Scientific Reports*, 12(1), 21140. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-23326-2